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Directors’ Responsibility Statement

The Group's Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements of APU JSC and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) have been
prepared to comply with International Financial Reporting Standards. The Group's Board of Directors is
responsible for ensuring that these consolidated financial statements present fairly the state of affairs of
the Group's financial position as at 31 December 2019 and the financial performance and cash flows for
the year then ended on that date.

The Group's Board of Directors has responsibility for ensuring that the Group keeps proper accounting
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy the financial position of the Group and which enable them
to ensure that the consolidated financial statements comply with the requirements set out in Note 2 to
Note 6 thereta.

The Group's Board of Directors also has a general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably
open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

The Group's Board of Directors considers that, in preparing the consolidated financial statements including
explanatory notes, it has used appropriate policies, consistently applied and supported by reasonable and
prudent judgment and estimates, and that all applicable accounting standards have been followed.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 were authorised
for issuance by the Group's Board of Directors.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

To: The Shareholders and Board of Directors
APU Joint Stock Company

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of APU JSC and its subsidiaries (together "the
Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, the
consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2019, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS").

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing ("ISAs”). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants ("IESBA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to
our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Mongolia, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed
in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whale, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

EPMG Audit LLC, a Mongelian member firm of the KPMG natwark of indapsndant mamber firms
affiliated with KPMG International Coopearative ("KPMG Intamational "), a Swiss entity. All ights ressrved,
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Key Audit Matters, continued

Impairment assessment of goodwill and non-current assets

Refer to Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 6 (h) and
Note 6 (1).

|

Atea of focus

How our audit addressed the area of focus

In December 2017, APU JSC merged with
Evergreen Investments LLC which resulted in
the acquisition of material new subsidiaries, as
described in Note 1. The Group determined this
acquisition was a business combination for
which the purchase price was allocated between
the acquired identified assets and liabilities
measured at fair value, such as trademarks and
customer relationships, leading to the resultant
recognition of goodwill of MNT 15,468,093
thousand.

Under the Group's accounting policies, goodwill
with an indefinite useful life is tested for
impairment annually and whenever there is an
indication of impairment, ‘together with the
relevant cash generating units ("CGUs") to
which the goodwill has heen allocated. In order
to assess the recoverable amount of goodwill,
management calculated the present value of the
estimated future cash flows of the relevant |
CGUs using a cash flow forecast compiled by |
management based on the Group's strategic |
plan.

We identified the impairment assessment of
goodwill and non-current assets as a key audit
matter because of its importance to the
consolidated financial statements, and because
determining any impairment required is highly
subjective as  significant  judgment and
estimation is required to be exercised,
particularly over the key assumptions such as
forecasted income, the average long term
growth rate, forecasted margins and appropriate
risk adjusted discount rates, all of which can be
inherently uncertain and could be subject to
rmanagement bias.

Our audit procedures to assess the impairment test
of goodwill included the following:

- We reviewed the Group's assessment of
impairment indicators and impairment tests
including review of the methodology applied
under |AS 386 Impairment of Assets and
reconciliation of the carrying values of assets
and liabilities in the CGUs to their carrying values
in the Group accounting.

- We engaged our internal valuation specialists to
evaluate the methodology and assumptions
adopted in the discounted cash flow forecasts
compiled by management, with referance to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards.

- We assessed the assumptions and critical
judgments adopted in the discounted cash flow
foracasts by comparing key inputs, including
forecasted income, the average long term
growth rate and forecasted margins with the
Group's financial budgets and strategic plans
and with industry trends.

- We evaluated the risk adjusted discount rates
applied in the discounted cash flow forecasts by
benchmarking the discount rates against that of
similar companies in the same industry.

- We performed a retrospective review by
comparing the prior year's forecast with the
current year's results to assess the historical
accuracy of management’s forecasting process.

- We assessed the disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements in relation to
the impairment assessment of goodwill with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards.




Key Audit Matters, continued
Revenue recognition

Refer to Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 6 (p).

Areaof focus ____ Howouraudit addressedthe area of focus
Under International Standards on Auditing there | Our audit procedures over revenue included, armong
is a presumed fraud risk relating to revenue | others:

recognition. We have determined this to apply to
the occurrence of the revenue because of the | - We tested selected controls management has
pressure management may feel to achieve the in place over the sales and revenue recognition
planned results. process, focusing on controls over the
existence, accuracy and timing of revenue
recognition.

Further, the Group adopted the revenue
standard, |FRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with

Customers, from 1 January 2018.

Due to these factors, we have considered
revenue recognition to be a key audit matter
relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial

We challenged the revenue recognition policies
adopted by the Group by making inquiries of
management and inspecting a sample of sales
contracts to understand the delivery terms of
the transactions so as to assess the Group's

sltatements. timing of revenue recognition with reference to
the requirements of the prevailing accounting

standards.

- We assessed whether revenue was recognized
l in the appropriate accounting period and in
i accordance with the terms of the sales
contracts by comparing a sample of sales
transactions recorded around the year end with
relevant underlying documents, which included
goods dispatch notes or documentation
indicating the customers' acknowledgment of
delivery of the goods sold.

- We performed trend analyses of the main
revenue lines of the Group, we developed an
expectation of the Group’s revenue using
guantities and prices, and we performed audit
procedures over sales between the Group and
its customers such as customer confirmations.

- We searched for manually entered journal
entries to the sales account recorded outside
the regular sales process above a monetary
threshold.

- We assessed the disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements in relation to
the revenue with reference to the requirements
of IFRS 15.




Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon.

Qur opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing s0, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report
in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to
liguidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for oversesing the Group's financial reporting process.
Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists, Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements, continued

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
profassional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e l|dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for cne resulting from
errar, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an apinion on the
effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

e [valuate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonablenass of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ahility to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Qur conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in @ manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion. '

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements, continued

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Mark Eberst, and
the General Director of the audit firm is Soyolmaa Gungaanyambuu.

Y. yles |

KPMG AUDIT |
KPMG Audit LLC LG
Ulaanbaatar, Mongolia

31 March 2020

Crsa

i

2. YNAAHGAATAP XOT

%@Hﬂaaw T, 5543%
M. aen

Signed by: Approved by:
21

Soyolmaa Gungaanyambuu Mark Eberst

General Director Fartner

This report is effective as at 31 March 2020, the audit report date. Certain subsequent events or
circumstances, which may occur between the audit report date and the time of reading this report, could
have a material impact on the accompanying consolidated financial statements and notes thereto.
Accordingly, the readers of the audit report should understand that the above audit report has not been
updated to reflect the impact of such subsequent events or circumstances, if any. Furthermore, this report
is intended solely for the use of the shareholders of the Group. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other party in relation to the contents of this
report.




APU Joint Stock Company and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 Dacember 2019

{ln thousands of MNT} Note 31 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2018
Assets
Property, plant and equipment’ 7 280,112,683 261,659,807
Intangible assets and goodwyill &8 92,149,037 96,884,782
Deferrad tax assets 22 605,045 1,289,781
Non-current assets 352,866,765 359,834,370
Inventories L] 89,521,542 76,790,056
Prepayments and prepaid expensas id 9,352,738 10,911,262
Income tax receivable 22 3,908,627 100,342
Trade and other recaivables 11,26 39,822,776 34,988,142
Cash and cash equivalents 12,25 50,034,921 61,123,898
Current assets 192,640,604 183,913,690
Total assets 545,507,369 543,748,060
Equity
Share capital 13 106,297 106,297
Share prermium 13 338,004,870 338,094,870
Merger reserve 13 (112,795,804) {112,795,804)
Hevaluation reserve 713 101,458,119 102,499,344
Foreign currency translation reserve 8,230 (6,646)
Retained earnings 154,411,091 124,765,611
Equity attributable to owners of the Group 481,282,803 452,663,672
Non-controiling interest 26 - 1,731,044
Total equity 481,282,803 454,394,716
Liabillties
Deferred tax liabilities 22 19,383,756 22,954,642
Long-term lease lishilities 23 8,421,683 -
Non-current liabilities 27,805,239 22,954,642
Short-term lease liabilities 23 1,700,849 -
Income tax payable 22 1,318,469 3,900,409
Trade and other payables 14 33,400,109 62,498,293
Current liabilities 36,419,227 66,398,702
Total liabilities 64,224,566 89,353,344
Total aquity and liabilities 545,507,369 543,748,060

TFoliowing the adoption of IFRS 16, the Group has presented right-of-use assets within ‘property, plant and

equipment”.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

g



APU Joint Stock Company and Subsidiaries
~Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2019

fin thousands of MNT) Note 2019 2018
Revenue 15 472,634,238 425,908,231
Cost of sales 16 {280,200,083) {247,261,758)

Graoss profit 212,434.175 178,626,473
Selling and administrative expenses 17 (112,451,819) (107,840,432
Impairment loss on financial assets 11,12 (410,290) (604,715}
Other income 18 3,128,412 3,584,055
Other expenses 19 (3,306,484) {4,528,195)

Profit from operations 99,394,994 69,237,186
Finance income 20 1,728,328 1,822,207
Finance costs 21 (2,675,611} (5,091,819

Profit before income tax 98,547,811 65,967,474
Income tax expense 22 {(22,434,916) {17,724,910)

Profit for the year 76,112,895 48,242,564

Other comprehensive incoma:

ftems that will never be reclassified to

profit or loss:

Revaluation of property, plant and equipment 7,13 - 23,541,380

Exchange rate differences on translation 35,293 (11,199)
Total comprehensive income for the year 76,148,188 72,172,745
Profit attributable to: :

Owners of the Parent Company 76,062,489 48,153,298

Non-controlling interest 50,406 89,266
Profit for the year 76,112,895 48,242,564
Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Qwners of the Parent Company 76,097,782 72,083,479

Non-controlling interest 50,4086 89,266
Tatal comprehensive incoma for the year 76,148,188 72,172,745
Earnings per shate
Basic earnings per share ' 31 71.6 45.3

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolfidated financial statements.
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APU Joint Stock Company and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2019

fin thousands of MNT)

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit for the year

Adjustments for:
[ncome tax expense
Interest expense on loans
Interest expense on lease liabilities
interest income
Unrealised foreign exchange gain, net
Depreciation
Amortisation
Impairment loss on trade and other receivabies, net
Impairment loss on bank balances
Impairment loss en property, plant and equipment
Impairment loss on slow moving and obsolete items
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Loss on write-off of property, plant and equipment
Loss on write-off of intangible assets

Changes in assets and liabilities:
Trade and other receivables
Inventories
Prepayments
Trade and other payables

Interest on loans paid

Interest on lease liabilities paid'

Interest receivad

Incorne taxes paid

Net cash provided by operating activities

11

Note 2019 2018

76,112,895 48,242,564

22 22,434,916 17,724,910
21 - 3,179,756
21 2,203,914 -
20 {1,728,328) {1,822,207)
{188.657) (228,426)

7 32,134,366 34,248,280
8 6,866,568 6,874,405
11 170,333 804,715
12 239,057 -
19 - 1,952,652
g 600,081 529,459
18 (197,345) (500)
19 255,885 48,765
19 502,942 281,105
19 4,864 -
139,412,360 111,635,478
{5.122,284) 8,341,727

{14,408,295) {6,580,877)

1,477,648 {4,508,033)

{559,203) (1,947,342

120,800,226 106,940,953

- (3,167,618

(2,203,914} -

20 1,728,328 1,822,207
22 (31,688,732} (13,468,108)
88,635,908 92,127,434




APU Joint Stock Company and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, continued
For the year ended 31 December 2019

(in thousands of MNT) Note 2018 2018
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (22,226,857) (12,600,217}
Acquisition of intangible assets 8 - {54,507}
Acquisition of non-controlling interest 26 {57,886} -
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
equipment 7 1,004,525 678,965
Net cash used in investing activities {21,280,118) {11,975,759)
Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of borrowings - (69,077,504
Dividends paid 13 {77,121,281} (1,101,706}
Payment of lease liabilities {1,241,819] -
Net cash used in financing activities (78,363,100) {70,179,210)
Exchange difference on translating foreign operation 23,873 2,141
Net {decrease) increase in cash and cash aquivalents {10,9832,437) 9,974,606
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year 12 61,123,898 51,009,027
Impairment loss on cash and cash eguivalents 12 (239,957} -
Effect of forsign exchange rate fluctuations on cash held 134,417 140,265
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year 12 50,034,921 61,123,898

‘The Group has classified:

interest payments chosen by the Group.

The Group has not restated comparative information.

cash payments for the principal portion of lease payments as financing activities;
cash payments for the interest portion as operating activities cansistent with the presentation of

The accompanying notes form an integraf part of these consolidated financial statements.
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APU Joint Stock Company and Subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Reporting Entity
{a) Description of the controlling company

APU Joint Stock Company {“the Company” or “APU JSC") was established in 1924. It is registered at
Khan-Uul District, 2" Khoroo, Chinggis Khaan Avenue, APU JSC building and domiciled in Mongolia. The
Company manufactures vodka, other spirits, beer and non-alcoholic beverages.

Merger with Evergreen, 2017

In April 2017, in order to form the largest beverage union in Mongolia, Shunkhlai Group LLC {one of APU
JSC's shareholders and owned by the Chairman of APU JSC) and Heineken Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd ("HAP"}
established Evergreen Investments LLC (a special purpose vehicle, “Evergreen”}, a Mongolian holding
entity. Shunkhlai Group LLC and Heineken Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd contributed their beverage related
businesses into Evergreen.

At the end of 2017, Evergreen merged with the Company after appropriate approvals from the related
authorities and sharehalders, and the Company issued new shares to the owners of Evergreen. As a result,
HAP became the owner of 25% of the Company, and Evergreen’s investments became subsidiaries of
APU JSC. Through the merger with Evergreen, the ultimate controlling party of the Company became
Shunkhlai Group LLC.

tnternal group restructuring

In 2018 and 2019, the Company rationalized the structure of its subsidiaries to simplify its operations and
reduce the number of entities. Natur Agro LLC, a fully owned subsidiary, was merged to the Company,
and the assets of Mongolian Beverages Company Pte. Ltd, Ulaanbaatar Spirit LLC, and Depod LLC were
transferred to tha Company. These three entities are in the process of, or have been, liquidated.

{b) Consolidated subsidiaries as at 31 December 2019

Ownership (%)
Subsidiaries Location Reporting date 2019 2018

Grand LLC Russia 31 December 100% 100%
Maongolian Beverages Company

Pte. Ltd Singapore 31 Degember 100% 100%
APU Trading LLC Mongolia 31 December 100% 100%
Natur Agro LLC Mongolia 31 December *NfA 100%
MBC Asia Pacific LLC {previously

MCS Asia Pacific Brewery LLC) Mongolia 31 December 100% =*ARY,
Spirt Bal Buram | LC Mongolia 31 Decamber *25100% 97.2%
SBB Trade LLC Mongolia 31 December 100% 100%
APU Dairy LLC _ Mongolia 31 December 100% 100%

# |n 2019, Natur Agro LLC was merged to the Company.

+* The other 55% of the share capital of MBC Asia Pacific LLC was owned by Mongolian Beverages
Company Pte.Ltd, which is fully owned by the Company.

=+ (On 30 April 2019, the Board of Directors of the Company resolved to acquire the rernaining shares of
Spirt Bal Buram LLC owned by minerity shareholders.
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APU Joint Stock Company and Subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 Decamber 2019

Reporting Entity, continued
Description of subsidiaries

Grand LLC is incorporated and operated in Krasnoyarsk, Russia and operates as a distribution company for
APU brand products.

Mongolian Beverages Company Pte. Ltd (MBC) is a limited fiability company domiciled and incorporated in
the Republic of Singapore. The registered office is 9 Temasek Boulevard #04-02, Suntsc Tower Two,
Singapore 038989.

APU Trading LLC, APU Dairy LLC, MBC Asia Pacific LLC, Spirt Bal Buram LLC and SBB Tradse LLC are
limited liability companies, incorporated and domiciled in Mongalia:

- APU Trading LLC operates as a trader and disiributor of alcoholic and non-alcoholic beverages in
Mongolia. APU Trading LLC's registered office address is Capitai House, 2™ flgor, Peace Avenue 48/7,
27 Khoroo, Khan-Uul District, Ulaanbaatar, Mongolia.

- The principal activities of MBC Asia Pacific LLC {previously MCS Asia Pacific Brewery LLC) are ihe
brewing and sale of beer. The registered office and principal place of business is MCS Tiger Brewery,
Peace Avenue, 10th Khoroo, Bayanzurkh district, Ulaanbaatar, Mongolia. On 26 July 2019, MCS Asia
Pacific Brewery LLC changed its name to MBC Asia Pacific LLC.

- Spirt Bal Buram LLC is principally engaged in the production and sale of vodka. The registered office
and principal place of business is Building of Spirt Bal Buram LLC, Shirkhentseg bag, Mandal soum,
Selenge province, Mongclia.

- SBB Trade LLC is a trader and distributor of alcoholic beverages in Mongalia. Its activities comprise
of sales and marketing in Mongolia and distrioution of vodka and beer within Ulaanbaatar city. The
registered office and principal place of business is Chinggis avenue, Khan-Uul district, 1% sub-district,
Ulaanbaatar, Mongolia.

- APU Dairy LLC manufactures and trades dairy products. It is registered at Khan-Uul District, 15 Khoroo,
Chinggis Khaan Avenue 33/5 and domiciled in Mongolia.

Natur Agro LLC was a company registered and domiciled at Uildver Street -79, Uildver -1, Khoroo-3, Khan-
Uul District, Ulaanbaatar, Mongolia. Natur Agro LEC's main activity was to lease its spirit factories and
equipment to APU JSC for production of spirit and related beverages. Under a merger agreement between
Natur Agro LLC and the Company dated 5 August 2019, Natur Agro LLC’s business, including all assets
and liahilities, was merged into the Company.

The consolidated financial statements comprise the Company and its subsidiaries {together referred to as
“the Group®). The Group is primarily engaged in manufacturing and selling of vodka, other spirits, beer,
nen-alcoholic heverages and dairy products.
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APU Joint Stock Company and Subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Basis of preparation
(a} Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards ("IFRS”}, The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical
cost basis except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.

The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 2{(c}.

This is the first set of the Group's annual financial statements in which IFRS 18 Leases has been applied.
The related changes to significant accounting policies are described in Note 5.

Certain corresponding figures have been reclassified to conform ta the current year’s presentation.
The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Directors on 31 March 2020.
(b) Functional and presentation cumrency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Mongolian tugrik {“MNT") which is also the
parent company's functional currency and the currency of the primary economic environments in which
the Group operates. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated.

{c) Use of judgments and estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to
make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of the accounting policies and the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual resuits may differ from these
estimates.

The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the consolidated financial
statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments,
however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the Group.
Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

The key sources of estimation uncertainty and judgments used in preparation of these consolidated
financia! statements that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities and sarnings within the next financial year, are discussed below.

)  Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful life

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful life are tested for impairment annually and whenever
there is an indication of impairment. The Group estimates the valus in use of the cash-generating units to
which the goodwill and intangible asset with indefinite useful life is allocated.

Estimating the value in use requires the Group, with the halp of independent professiona! valuers where
applicable, to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows trom the cash-generating units and also
to choose a suitable discount rate in order 1o calculate the present value of those cash flows.

The impairment tests are sensitive to growth rates and discount rates. Changes in these assu mptions may
result in changes in recoverable values. The carrying amount of the Group’s goodwill and indefinite life
intangible assets at the balance sheet date amounted to MNT 15,468,093 thousand (2018: MNT
15,468,093 thousand), as disclesed in Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.
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APU Joint Stock Company and Subsidiaries
Notes to the Consalidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 Decembear 2019

Basis of preparation, continued
{c) Use of judgments and estimates, continued

{il Deferred income taxes

in calculating the income taxes, the Group considers factors such as tax rates in Mengolia, non-deductible
expenses, changes in iax law, and management's expectations of future results, The Group estimates
deferred incorne taxes based on terporary differences between the income and losses reported in its
consolidated financial statements and its taxable income and losses as determined under the applicable
tax laws. The tax effects of these temporary differences are recorded as deferred tax assets or liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group does not recognise deferred tax assets where management does not expect such assets 1o be
realised based upon current foracasts. In the event that actual results differ from these estimates,
adjustments are made in future periods in these estimates, and changes in the amount of the deferred tax
assets recognised may be required, which could materially impact the financial position and the income
for the period.

Total deferred tax assets recognised in the Group's consolidated statement of financial position amounted
to MNT 605,045 thousand and MNT 1,289,781 thousand as at 31 December 2019 and 201 8, respectivaly.

Total deferred tax liabilities recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position
amounted to MNT 19,383,756 thousand and MNT 22,954,642 thousand as at 31 December 2019 and
2018, respectively, ses Notes 6 {r) and 22. '

{iiy Fair value of property, plant and equipment

As set out in Note 6 (g}, the Group applies the revaluation modei for all classes cf property, plant and
equipment. In January 2018, a fair value measurement of property, plant and equipment was performed
by an independent third party valuation company. The valuation was based on certain assumptions which
are subject to uncertainty and might materially differ from the actual results. Judgment is required in
relation to the selection of assumptions in arriving at the fair values and the determination of the frequency
of performing a revaluation with sufficient regularity. The fair value measurement resulted in a net
revaluation surplus of MNT 23,941,380 thousand and a net impairment loss of MNT 1,952,652 thousand.
The major veluation approaches and assurnptions are described in Note 7.

(iv) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Management determines the estimated useful lives of and related depreciation charges for its property,
plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the actual useful lives of assets of similar nature and
functions. It could change significantly as a result of significant technical innovations and competitor actions
in response to industry cycles.

Management will increase the depreciation charges where useful lives are lass than previously estimated
lives, or will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned
or sold. The estimated useful fives of the Group's assets are set out in Note & {g).

In January 2018, a fair value measurement of the property, plant and eguipment was performed by an

independent third party valuation company as mentioned ahove. As a result, the management determined
that the useful lives of certain items of property, plant and equipment should be changed.
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APU Joint Stock Company and Subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Basis of preparation, continued
(¢) Use of judgments and estimates, continued
(iv) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment, continued

The effect of the change in the estimate of useful lives in subsequent periods is not disclosed because its
estimation is impracticable.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the net book values of the Group's property, plant and equipment
amounted to MNT 260,112,683 thousand and MNT 261,659,807 thousand, respectively. Total
accumulated depreciation as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 amounted to MNT 125,032,290 thousand

and MNT 97,480,500 thousand respectively, as disclosed in Note /.
(v Impairment allowance for doubtful receivable accounts

The Group estimates the impairment allowance for doubtful accounts related to its raceivables based on
its assessment of individual characteristics of each customer and by the economic conditions and ths
beverage industry in Mongolia.

In these cases, judgment used was based on the best available facts and circumstances including but not
limited to, the length of relationship with the counterparty and the counterparty’s current credit status
based on credit reports and known market factors. The Group used judgment to record specific allowances
for counterparties against amounts due to reduce the expected collectible amounts. These specific
allowances are re-evaluated and adjusted as additional information received impacts the arnounts

esfimated.

The amounts and timing of recorded expenses for any period would differ if different judgments were
made or different estimates were utilised. An increase in the allowance for doubtful accounts would
increase the recognised operating expenses and decrease current assets.

Total trade and other receivables recognised in the Group's consolidated statement of financial position
amounted to MNT 39,822,776 thousand and MNT 34,988,142 thousand as at 31 December 2019 and
2018, respectively, which are net of the related impairment allowances for doubtful accounts amounting
to MNT 2,837,189 thousand and MNT 2,677,612 thousand as at those dates, respactively as disclosed in
MNote 11.

{vi} Estimating net realisable value of inventories

The net realisable value of inventories represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all
estimated costs of necessary to make the sale. Reviews are made periodically by management on
damaged, obsclete and slow moving inventories.

While the Group believes that the estimates are reasonable and appropriate, significant differences in the
actual experience or significant changes in estimates may materially affect the profit or loss and equity.

Total inventeries recognised in the Group's consolidated statement of financial position amounted to MNT
80,521,542 thousand and MNT 76,790,066 thousand as at 31 December 2019 and 2018, respectively as

disclosed in Note 9.
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APU Joint Stock Company and Subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Basis of preparation, continued
{c} Use of judgments and estimates, continued
lviiy Rewvenue recognition - Excise tax

Revenus is recognised when control over products has transferred and the Group fuffilled its performance
obligation to the customer. The control is transferred at the delivery of the products 10 the customer.

Mongeolian tax authorities impose multiple taxes, duties and fees. These include excise duties on the sale
of alcoholic beverages and production of spirit. The excise tax on the sale of alecholic beverages is levied
on the Group at the moment of the sales transaction, and the excise is based on the sales value. The excise
duties are collected on behalf of the tax authorities and consequently deducted from revenue. The excise
tax on the production of spirit is levied at the moment the spirit produgtion is completed and the excise is
based on the volume of production at a fixed rate per litre. The incurred excise tax on spirit production is
deducted against the due excise tax on vadka sales. Due to the requiremnents in tax legislation, judgment
is applied in the assessment whether taxes are borne by the Group or collected on behalf of a third party.

(viii} Leases

The Group leases a restaurant, an office and factory facilities. The leases typicalty run for a period of 1 to
10 years, with an option to renew the lease after that date. The Group assesses at lease commencement
date whether it is reasonably certain 1o exercise the renewal options if there is & significant event or
significant changes in circumstances within its control,

The Group adopted IFRS 16 Leases on 1 January 2019. When measuring lease liabilities for leases that
were previously classified as operating leases prior to 1 January 2019, the Group discounted lease
payments using its incremental borrowing rate for the particular asset and lease term as at 1 January 2018,
The weighted-avarage rate applied was 22% (15% for US dollar denominated leases). See details in Note

6 ().

Total right-of-use assets recognised in the Group’s consclidated statement of financial position amounted
1o MINT 2,194,972 thousand as at 31 Decetmber 2019, as disclosed in Note 7.

Total lease liabilities recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position amounted to
MINT 10,122,232 thousand as at 31 Dacember 2019.

(ix} Going concern

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which management
has assessed as being appropriats.
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APU Joint Stock Company and Subsidianies
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

New and amended standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board {IASB} which
apply in the current financial year

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 does not impact significantly the way that lessors account for their rights and obligations under a
lease. However, lessees are no longer required to distinguish between finance leases and operating leases.
Instead, subject to practical expedients, lessees account for all leases in a similar way to finance lease
accounting, i.e. at the commencement date of the lease the lessee recognises and measures a lease
ligbility at the present value of the minimum future lease payments and recognises a corresponding “right-
of-use"” asset.

After initial recognition of this asset and liability, the lesses recognises interest expense accrued on the
outstanding balance of the lease liability, and the depreciation of the right-of-use asset, instead of the
previous policy of recognising rental expenses incurred under operating leases on a systematic basis over
the lease term. As a practical expedient, the lessee can elect not to apply this accounting model to short-
term leases {i.e. where the lease tarm is 12 months or less) and to leases of low-value assets, in which
case the rental expenses continue to be recognised on a systematic basis over the lease term.

IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The standard ofters different
transition options and practical expedients, including the practical expedient to grandfather the previous
assessment of which existing arrangements are, or cantain, leases.

The adoption of IFRS 16 Leases resulted in changes in accounting policies. The new accounting policies
are set out in Note 5 "Changes in accounting policies”.

Other new standards and amendments to standards

A number of other new standards and amendments to standards are also effective from 1 January 2019
but they do not have 8 material effect on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

New standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board {IASB] which do not yet
apply in the current financial year

A number of new standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 January 201 and earlier
application is permitted; however, the Group has not early adopted the new or amended standards in
preparing these consclidated financial statements.

The following amended standards and interpretations are not expected to have a significant impact on the
Group's consolidated financial statements.

- Amendments to References to Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards
- Definition of a Business (Amendments to IFRS 3}

- Definition of Material (Amendments to |AS 1 and 1AS 8)

- IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts.
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APU Joint Stock Company and Subsidiaries
Notes to the Consclidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 Dacember 2019

Changes in accounting policies
IFRS 16

The Group initially applied IFRS 16 Leases from 1 January 2018 using the modified retrospective approach.
Accordingly, the comparative information presented for 2018 is not restated — i.e. it is presented, as
previously reported, under I1AS 17 and related interpretations. The details of the changes in accounting
policies are disclosed below. Additionally, the disclosure requirements in IFRS 16 have not generally been
applied to comparative information.

{a} Definition of a lease

Previously, the Group determined at contract inception whether an arrangement was or contained a lease
under IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease. The Group now assesses whether
a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition of a lease, as explained in Note 6 {j.

On transition to IFRS 16, the Group elected to apply the practical expedient to grandfather the assessment
of which transactions sre leases. The Group applied IFRS 16 only to contracts that were previously
identified as leases. Contracts that were nat identified as leases under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 were not
reassassed for whether there is a lease under IFRS 16. Therefore, the definition of a laase under IFRS 16
was applied only to contracts entered into or changed on or after 1 January 2019,

(b) As alassee

As a lessee, the Group leases various assets including a restaurant, an office and factory facilities. The
Group previously classified leases as operating or finance leases based on its assessment of whether the
lease transterred significantly all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset
to the Group. Under IFRS 16, the Group recognises right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for most of
these leasas — i.e. these leases are on-halance sheet.

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease compenent, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to sach lease component on the basis of its relative stand-alone price.
However, for leases the Group has elected not to separate non-lease components and account for the
lease and associated non-lease components as a single lease component.

Leases classffied as operating leases under IAS 17

Previously, the Group classified leases as operating lsases under IAS 17. On transition, for these lsases
lease liabilities were measured at the present valtue of the remaining lease payments, discounted at the
Group’s incremental borrowing rate appropriate for the asset and lease term as at 1 January 2019 (see
Note 6 (j)}. Right-of-use assets were measured at an amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the
amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments. The Group applied this approach to all leases on
transition.
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Changes in accounting policies, continued
(b} As a lessee, continued
Leases classified as operating leases under |AS 17, continued

The Group has tested its right-of-use assets for impairment on the date of transition and has concluded
that there is no indication that the right-of-use assets are impaired.

The Group used a number of practical expedients when applying IFRS 16 to leases praviously classified as
operating leases under 1AS 17. In particular, the Group:
- did not recognise right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases for which the lease term ends within

12 months of the date of initial application;
- did not recognise right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases of low value assets {e.g. IT

equipmant);
- excluded initial direct costs from the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial

application; and
- used hindsight when determining the lease term.

{¢) Impact on financial statements

Impact on transition*

On transition to IFRS 16, the Group recognisaed additional right-of-use assets and additional lease liabilities.
The impact on transition is summarised below.

{in thousands of MNT} 1 January 2019

Right-of-use asssts — property, plant and equipment 11,386,767
Lease liabilities 11,303,427
Prepayments 83,340

* For the impact of IFRS 18 on profit or loss for the period, see Note 23. For the details of accounting policies under
IFRS 16 and I1AS 17, s8a Note 6 {j).

When measuring lease liabilities for leases that were classified as operating leases, the Group discounted
lease payments using its incremental borrowing rate appropriate for the asset and lease term as at 1
January 2019. The weighted-average rate applied was 22% (15% for US dollar denominated leases).

{In thousands of MNT} 1 January 2019
Operating lease commitment at 31 December 2018 as disclosed under
IAS 17 in the Group's financial statements 7,886,584
Discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at 1 January 2019 6,440,376
- Recognition exemption for leases with less than 12 months of
lease term at transition {(2,027,121)
- Extension options reasonably certain to be exercised 6,890,172
Leass liabilities recognised at 1 January 2019 11,303,427
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APU Joint Stock Company and Subsidiaries
Notes to the Consclidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in thess
consolidated financial statements, unless otherwise indicated.

{a} Subsidiary companies

A subsidiary is an investee that is controlled by the Group. The Group controls an investea when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investes and has the ability to
affact those returns through its power over the investes. '

In the Company's separate financial statemants, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment losses.

A list of the Group's subsidiary companias is shown in Note 1.
{b) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group as at 31 December
2018.

Contro! is achieved when the Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.

Specifically, the Group controls an invesiee if, and only if, the Group has all of the foﬂowing:

« Power over the investee {i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investsel

« Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvernent with the investee

» The ability to use its power over the investee to atfect its retumns

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiaries begins when
the Company obtains control over the subsidiaries and ceases when the Company loses control of the
subsidiaries.

Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date
the Company gains control until the date the Company ceases to control the subsidiaries.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCH are attributed to the aquity
holders of the parent of the Group.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as the Company,
using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and other events in similar circumstances. When
necessary, adjustments are mads to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group's accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
axpenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiaries, without a loss of contro, is accounted

for as an equity transaction.
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Significant account‘ing policies, continued
{b} Basis of consuolidation, continued
If the Group loses control over a subsidiaries, it:

e Dearecognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity.

» Recognises the fair value of the censideration received.

e Recognises the fair value of any investment retained.

» Recognises any surplus or deficit in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive incoma.

« Reclassifies the-parent’s share of compenents previously recognised in OCi to profit or loss or retained
earnings, as appropriate, as would be required if the Company had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities.

« Derecognises the assets tincluding goodwill) and kiabilities of the subsidiaries.

» Derecognises tha carrying amount of any non-controiling interest.

{c) Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. Identifisble assets acquired
and liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initfally at their fair values at the acquisition
date. Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the costs are incurred
and the services are received.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date.

Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be an asset or
liability, will be recognised in profit or loss.

In business combinations achieved in stages, previously held equity interests in the acguiree are
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date and any corresponding gain or loss is recognised in profit

or loss.

The Group elects for each individual business combination whether the non-controlling interest in the
acquiree {if any), that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionats share of
net assets in the event of liquidation, is recognised on the acquisition date at fair value, or at the non-
controlling interest's proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Other components of
non-controlling interests are measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless another measurement

hasis is required by IFRS.

Any excess of the sum of the fair value of the consideration transferred in the business combination, the
amount of non-controlling interast in the acquiree (if any) and the fair value of the Group’s previously held
equity interest in the acquire {if any} over the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities
is racorded as goedwill. In instances where the latter amount exceeds the former, the excess is recognised
as a gain on bargain purchase in profit or loss on the acquisition date. The accounting policy for goodwill is
set out in Note 6 th).

Common conirof transaction

A business combination involving entities or businesses under common control is a business combination
in which all of the combining entities or businesses are ultimately controlled by same party or parties both
hefare and after the combination, and that control is not transitory.
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Significant accounting policies, continued

{c) Business combinations, continued

Common control transaction, continued

The Group in a common control transaction elects to use book value (carry-over basis} accounting on the
basis that the investment has simply been moved from one part of the Group to another. In applying book
value accounting, an adjustment may be required in equity to reflact any differences between the
consideration paid and the capital of the acquiree.

{d} Transactions with non-controlling interest

Non-conirolling interest represents the equity in subsidiaries not attributable, dirsctly or indirectly, to
owners of the Company, and are presented separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income and within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position, separately from equity
attributable to owners of the Company.

Changes in the Company's interest in & subsidiary that do not resutt in a loss of control are accounted for
as equity transactions. In such circumstances, the carrying amounts of the controliing and non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference
betwaen the amount by which the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and aitributed to owners of the Company.

{e) Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency of the Group at the exchange
rates at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated to functional currency at
the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate
at the date that the fair value was determined.

Non-monetary items in a foreign currency that are measured based on historical cost are translated at the
exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences are generally recognised in profit
or loas.

{f) Financial instruments
{i Recognition and initial measursment

Trade receivables and debt securities issued are initially recognised when they are originated. All other
financial asssts and financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component} or financial
liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FYTPL, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing camponent is

initially measured at the transaction price.
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Significant accounting policies, continued
{f} Financial instruments, continued
(il Classification and subsequent measursment

Financial assets

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost, FVQCI — debt
investment; FVOC!| - equity investment; or FYTPL.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group changes its
business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified
on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the businegss model,

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVTPL:

- it is held within a business model whose objactive is to hold assets to collect contractual cash
flows; and ,

- its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest an the principal amount outstanding.

A debt investment is measured at FVOCH if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated
as at FVTPL:

- itis held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling financial assets; and

- its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely paymants of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity invastment that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elsct
to present subsequent changes in the investment's fair value in OCI. This election is made on an
investment-by-investrnant basis.

Allfinancial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are measurad
at FVTPL. On initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets
the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FYTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

Financial assets — Business mode! assessment
The Group makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financiai asset is held

at a portfolio level bacause this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided
to managennent.
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Significant accounting policies, continued

(f) Financial instruments, continued

(it Classification and subsequent measurement, continued
Financial assets — Business model assessment, continued
The information considered includes:

- the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice.
These include whether management's strategy focuses on earning contractual interest income,
maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the
duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outflows or realising cash flows through the 'sale
of the assets;

- how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group’s management;

- the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within
that business modsl) and how those risks are managed;

- how managers of the business are compensated — e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair
value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected, and

- the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for such
sales and expectations about future sales activity.

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition are not
considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Group’s continuing recognition of the assets.

Financial assets that are held for trading or are managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair
value basis are measured at FYTPL.

Financial assets — Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial
recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk
associated with the principal amount outstanding during & particular period of time and for cther basic
lending risks and costs (e.g. liguidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit rargin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the Group
considers the contractual terms of the mstrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset
contains a contractual term that could change ths timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it
would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Group considers:

- contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;

- terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable-rate features;

- prepayment and extension features; and

- terms that limit the Group's claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse features).
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Significant accounting policies, continued
{f) Financial instruments, continued
i Classification and subsequent measurement, continued

Financial assets — Assessmeni whather contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and
interest, continued

A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely payments of principal and interest criterion if the
prepayment amount substantially represents unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding, which may include reasonable additional compensation for early termination of the
contract. Additionally, for a financial asset acquired at a discount or premiumn 1o its contractual par amount,
a feature that permits or requires prepayment at an amount that substantially represents the contractual
par amount plus accrued (but unpeid) contractual interest (which may also include reasonable additional
compensation for early termination} is treated as consistent with this criterion if the fair value of the
prepayment feature is insignificant at initial recognition.

Financial assets — Subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial assets at FYTPL These assets are subseguently measured at fair value. Net geins and losses,
including any intarest or dividend income, are recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets at These assets are subsequently measursd at amortised cost using the effective

annortised cost intarest method, The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest
income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in
profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

Debt investments at These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income

FYQC calculated using the effective interast method, foreign exchange gams and
losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and
losses are recognised in OCl. On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated
in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss.

Equity investmeants at These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are

FVOCI recognised as incorme in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses are
recognised in OCl and are never reclassified to profit or loss.

Financial liabilities — Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and Josses

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FYTPL. A finangial liability is classified
as at FVTPL if It is classified as held-for-trading, it is a derivative or it is designated as such on initial
recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair vatlue and net gains and losses, including any
interest expense, are recognised in profit or loss. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss.

27



APU Joint Stock Company and Subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Significant accounting policles, continued
{f) Financial instruments, continued

{iiy Derecognition

Financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial
assat expire, o it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in & transaction in which
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not
retain control of the financial asset.

The Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised in its statement of financial
position, but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets. In these
cases, the transferred assets are not derecognised.

Financial liabifities

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or
expire. The Group also derscognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of
the modified liability are substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based on the modified
terms is recognised at fair value.

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished and the
consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is recogrnised in profit

or loss.

Offseiting

Financia! assets and financial liabiiities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial
position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts
and it intends either to gettle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability

simultaneously,

28



APU Joint Stock Company and Subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Significant accounting policies, continued
{a} Property, plant and equipment
(il Recognition and measurement

ltems of property, plant and equiprnent that qualify for recognition as assets are measured upen initial
recognition at their cost. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the
asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the following:

+ The cost of materials and direct labor;
Any other cost directly attributable to bringing the assetstoa working condition for their intended use;
and

¢ Borrowing costs associated with constructed assets.

(il Measurement after initial recegnition

After initial recognition as an asset, an item of property, plant and equipment whose fair value can be
measured reliably is carried at its revalued amount, being its fair value at the date of revaluation less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. The fair values are
estimated by an independent third party.

Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of such property, plant and equipment is charged to
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation
decrease for the same asset previously recognised as an expense, in which case the increase is charged
to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease previously charged.

A decrease in carrying amount arising on the revaluation of such property, plant and squipment is charged
as an expense to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the properties revaluation surplus
relating to a previous revaluation of that asset.

Accumulated depreciation as &t the revaluation date is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the
asset and the net amount is restated 1o the revalued amount of the asset.

The gain o loss on disposal of an itemn of property, plant and equipment is datermined by comparing the
proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment. When revalued assets
are sold or retired, any related amount included in the revaluation reserve is transferred to retained

earnings.
(iii} Subsequent costs

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is probable that the future economic benefits
associated with expenditure will flow to the Group. Ongoing fepairs and maintenance is expensed as
incurred.
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Significant accounting policies, continued

{9} Property, plant and equipment, continued

{ivi Depreciation

ltems of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis in profit or loss over the
estimated useful lives of each component. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease
term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will obtain ownership by the end
of the lease term.

ltems of property, plant and equipment are depreciated from the date that they are installed and are ready
for use or in respact of intamally constructed assets, from the date asset is completed and ready for use.

The estirnated remaining economic ussful fives for the current year following the revaluation and for the
comparative year following the last revaluation of significant items of property, plant and equipment are as

follows:

Items of property, plant and equipment Useful lives
Right-of-use assets 5 - 10 years
Buildings 4 - B0 years
Equipment 5 - 30 years
Vehicles b-20vyears
Furniture and fixtures 2-19 years

Depreciation msthod, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if
appropriate. The change is accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate.

(h) Goodwill and intangible assets

(i} Goodwall

Goodwill is initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition
date, allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units that are expected to bensfit from the synergies
of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquires are assigned to those

units.

The cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually and
whenever thers is an indication that the cash-generating unit may be impaired. Impairment is determined
for goodwill by assessing the recoverabls amount of each cash-generating unit {or group of cash-generating
units} to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than
the carrying amount, an impairment lass is recognised in the profit and loss account. Impairment losses
racognised for goodwill are not reversed in subseguent pericds.
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Slgnificant accounting policles, continued
{h) Goodwlll and intangible assets, continued

(il Goodwill, continued

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed
of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss of disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this
circumstance is measured based on the refative fair values of the operations disposed of and the portion

of the cash-generating unit retained.
{il Otherintangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured initially at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is their fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial acquisition,
intangible assets are measured at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised on a straight-ine basis over the estimated useful
lives and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be
impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method are reviewed at least at each financial year-
end. Changes in the expected useful lite or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic
benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as
appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible
assets with finite lives is recognised Tn the profit or loss in the expense category consistent with the
function of the intangihle asset.

The estimated economic useful lives of significant items of intangible assets are as follows:

Trademarks 20 years
Customer relationships 10 years
Software 3 years

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives or that are not yet available for use are not subject to
amortisation and they are tested for impairment annually or more frequently if the events and
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired either individually or at the cash-generating
unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite
useful life is reviewad annually to determine whether the useful life assessment continues to be
supportable. If not, the change in useful life from indefinite to finite is mads on a prospective basis.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the ditference betwean

the net disposal proceeds and the carrying arnount of the asset and are recognised in the profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised.
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Significant accounting policies, continued
(i} Borrowing costs

The Group capitalizes borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of
a qualifying asset as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are recognized in expense as
incurred. A qualifying asset is an asset that requires a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended
use or sale.

To the extent that the Group borrows funds specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the
Group determines the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalization as the actual horrowing costs
incurred on that borrowing during the period less any investrnent incemne on the temporary investment of
those borrowings. The Group immediately recognizes other borrowing costs as an expense. To the extent
that the Group borrows funds generally and uses them for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the
Group determines the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalization by applying a capitalization rate
to the expenditures on that asset. The capitalization rate is the weighted average of the horrowing ¢osts
applicable to the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding during the period, other than borrowings
made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset. The amount of borrowing costs that the
Group capitalizes during a period shall not exceed the amount of borrowing costs incurred during that
period. :

{]) Leases

The Group has applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach and therefore the comparative
information has not been restated and continues to be reported under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. The details of
accounting policies under 1AS 17 and IFRIC 4 are disclosed separately.

Policy applicable from 1 January 2019

At inception of a contract, the Group assessas whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a peried of
time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of
an identified asset, the Group uses the definition of a leasa in IFRS 16.

This policy is applied to contracts entered into on or after 1 January 2019.

The Group teases as a lessee various assets such as a restaurant, an office and factory fecilities. The Group
has not entered into any arrangements as a lessor.

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative stand-alone price.
However, for leases the Group has elected not to separate non-lease components and accounts for the
lease and non-lease components as a single lease component.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability &t the leass commencement date. The right-
of-uge asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted
for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred
and an estimats of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying assst or to restore the underlying asset
or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received,

The rightof-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the
commencemant date to the end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying
asset to the Group by the end of the lease term or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group
will exercise a purchase option. [n that cass the right-of-use asset will be depreciated over the useful life
of the underlying asset, which is determined on the same basis as those of property and equipment.
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Significant accounting policies, continued
{j} Leasas, continued
Policy applicable from 1 January 2018, continued

In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for
certain remeasurements of the Isase liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be
readily determined, the Group's incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate as the discount rate.

The Group determines its incremental bofrowing rate by analysing its borrowings from various external
sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type of asset leased.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

- fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;

- variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or
rate as at the commencement daie,

- amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and

- the exercise price under a purchase option that the Group is reasonably certain to exercise, lease
payments in an optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably certain 1o exercise an extension
option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Group is reasonably certain not to
terminate early.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured
when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a
change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, if
the Group changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination goption
or if there is a revised in-substance fixed lease paymant.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset has been reduced 1o zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in 'property, plant and equipment’ and lease liabilities as separate
line iterns in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value

assets and short-term leases, including leases of |T equipment. The Group recognises the lease payments
associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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Significant accounting policies, continued
{j} Leases, continued
Policy applicable before 1 January 2012

For contracts entered into before 1 January 2019, the Group determined whether the arrangement was or
contained a lease based on the assessment of whether:

- fulfilment of the arrangement was dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets; and
- the arrangement had conveyed a right to use the asset.

The Group did not have any finance leases under IAS 17.

Assats held under other leases were classified as operating leases and were not recognised in the Group’s
consclidated statement of financia! position. Payments made under operating leases were recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-ine basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received were recognised
as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease,

{k} Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is
determined on a weighted-average cost principle and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the
invantories, production or conversion costs, and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing

location and condition. In the case of production inventories and work-in-progress, cost includes an
appropriate share of overhead costs based on normal operating capacity.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs
related to completion.

() Impairment

{il Non-derivative financial assets

Financial instruments and contract assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECLs) on:

- financial assets measured at amortised cost; and
- debt investments measured at FVOC,

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following, which
are measured at 12-month ECLs:

_  debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and
- other debt securities and bank balances for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over
the expectad life of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets are always measured at an amount equal 1o
lifetime ECLs.
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Significant accounting policies, continued
{1} Impairment, continued
(il Non-derivative financial assets, continued

When determining whether the credit risk of & financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that
is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative
information and analysis, based on the Group's historical experience and informed credit assessment and
including forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30
days past dus.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:

- the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the
Group to actions such as realising security {if any is held); or
- the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrurment.

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possibie within the 12
months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12

months).

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which
the Group is exposed to credit risk.

Measurament of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measurad as the present value
of afl cash shortfalls fi.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

ECLs ara discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.

Creditimpaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financiat assets carried at amortised cost and debt
securities at FYOC] are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘creditimpaired’ when ong or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following cbservable data:

- significant financial difticulty of the borrower or issuer;

- abreach of contract such as a default or being more than 90 days past due;

- the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not consider
othaerwise;

- it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

~ the disappearancs of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.
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Significant accounting policies, continued

(1} Impairment, continued

(i) Nor-derivative financial assets, continued

Presentation of altowance for ECL in the statement of financial position

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying
armount of the assets.

For debt securities at FVOCI, the loss allowance is charged to profit or loss and is recognised in OCI.

Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financiai asset is written off when the Group has no reascnable
expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. For corporate customers,
the Group individually makss an assessment with respect to the timing and amount of write-off based on
whether there is a reasonable expectation of recovery. The Group expects no significant recovery from the
amount written off.

(M Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets,
are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. if any
such indication exists, then the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill and intangible assets
that have indefinite lives or that are not yet available for use, the recovershle amount is estimated each

year at the same time.

The Group estimates the recoverable amount of an individual asset, if it is impossible to measure the
individual recoverable amount of an asset, then the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit {"CGU"). A CGU is the smallest identifiabie group of assets that gensrates cash inflows
that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to
sall. The value in use is estimated by applying a pre-tax discount rate that reflect cusrent market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks spécific to the asset or CGU for which estimated
future cash flows have not been adjusted, to the estimated future cash tlows expected to be generated
by the asset or CGU. An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or a CGU exceeds
it recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. An impairment joss is reversed
if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been

racognised.
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Significant accounting policies, continued
(m) Employee benefits
{i) Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised for
the amount expected to be paid if the Group has a present or constructive obligation to pay this amount
as a result of past services provided by the employes and the cbligation can be estimated reliably.

{ii} Defined contribution plans

Employee benefits of the Group include statutory social insurance payments to the State Social Insurance
Scheme of Mongolia. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as an

employee benefit expense as incurred.

(n) Provisions and contingencies

A provision is recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation. Where the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions
are determined by discounting expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriete, the risks specific to the liability. The
unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost.

Where it is not probable that an outflow cof economic benefits will ba required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only he confirmed by the
occurrence of non-occurrence of one or more future events, are also disclosed as contingent liahilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

{o) Share capital

(i Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are classified as squity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary
share are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

(i) Repurchase of share capital {treasury shares)

When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, which
includes directly attributable costs, net of any tax effects, is recognised as deduction from equity.

Repurchased shares are classified as trsasury shares and are presented in the statement ot changes in
equity as treasury shares. When treasury shares are sold or reissued subsequently, the amount received
is recognised as an increase in equity, and the resulting surplus or deficit on the transaction is presented

in share premium.
{ii) Retained sarnings

Retained earnings represent accumulated profit attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company after
deducting dividends declared. Retained earnings may also include effect of changes in accounting policy
as may be required by the standard’s transitional provisions.
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Significant accounting policies, continued
(o} Share capital, continued
{iv} Contribution by owners of the Group

Capital contributions from shareholders, heing either cash or other non-monetary assets, which are non-
reciprocal {i.e. no financial obligation), are accounted for directly in equity at fair value of the contributed
assels.

{v) Foreign currency translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations, as well as from the translation of liabilities that hadge the Parent
Company’s net investment in a foreign subsidiary.

(p} Revenue
The Group applies a five-step approach:

Step 1: Identify the contract{s) with customers

Step 2: |dentify the separate performance obligations in the contract

Step 3: Determine the transaction price

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to separate performance obligations

Step b: Recognize revenue when {or as) each performance obligation is satisfied

A “contract” is an agreement between two or mare parties that creates enforceable rights and obligation.
A contract with a customer is in the scope of IERS 15 when it is legally enforceable and all of the following
criteria are met:

The contract is approved and the parties are committed to their obligations;
Rights to goods or services and payment terms can be identified;

The contract has commercial substance; and

Collection of consideration is probable.

Promises to transfer a good are explicitly stated in the contract and considered as a performance obligation.

The transaction price is the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for transferring goods to a customer. The transaction price excludes amounts collected on behalf of third
parties — e.g. sdles taxes.

The Group estimates the transaction price at contract incaption, including any variable consideration, and
updates the estimate each reporting period for any changes in circumstances. When determining the
transaction price, the Group assumes that the goods will be transferred to the customer based on the
tarms of the existing contract, and does not take into consideration the possibility of a contract being
cancelled, renawed or modified.

Promotions, discounts and rebates are for the most part recorded as a reduction of revenue. Only when
these relate to a distinct service the amounts are recorded as operating expenses.
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Significant accounting policies, continued
(p! Revenue, continued

The excise tax on the sales of alcoholic beverages is levied on the Group at the moment of the sales
transaction, and the excise is based on the sales value. The excise duties are collected on behalf of the tax
authorities and consequently deducted fram revenue. The excise tax on the production of spirit is levied
at the moment the spirit production is complsted and the excise is based on the volume of production at
a fixed rate per litrs. The incurrad excise tax on spirit production is deducted against the due excise tax on
vodka sales.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer. The Group
recognises revenue when control over products has transferred and the Group fulfilled its performance
obligation to the customer. The control is transferred at delivery of the products or upon pickup by the
customer from the Group's premisss.

The following table provides information about the nature and timing of the satisfaction of performance

obligations in contracts with customers and related revenue racognition palicies.

Nature and timing satisfaction of

customer is a purchase order from the
customer. The customer obtains control
of beverage products when the goods are
delivered to and have been acceptad at
their premises or upon pick up by the
customer from the Group. The Group’s
customer group can be split between key
customers such as supermarkets, shops,
cafes, bars, restaurants, karaoke and
wholesalers. The Group uses different
types of discounts and incantive
programmes depending on the nature of
the customer. The Group provides
conditional discounts to customers.
These contractually agreed conditions
include volume and promotional rebates.
Conditional discounts are recognised
hased on an estimated target realization.
A discount accrual is recognised at each
reporting date for discounts payable to
customers based on their expected or
actual volume up to that date. Invoices
are generated at a point in time.

Type of performance obligations, including

product significant payment terms Revenue recognition pollicies
Beverage The binding document which confirms Revenue is recognised when control
products the purchase of the products by a aver products has transferred and the

Group fulfilled its performance obligation
1o the customer. A performance
obligation is the unit of account for
revenus recognition. For beverage
products, the performance obligation is
considered 1o be a ssle of goods. The
transaction price is the amount of
consideraiion to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for
transferring goods to a customer. The
Group recognises revenue at the point in
time at which it transfers control of the
goods to the customer. The customer
has control of the goods when it has the
ability to direct the use of, and obtain
substantially all of the remaining benefit
from, the goods. The control is
transferred at the delivery of the
products to the customers’ premises or
upon pick up by the customer. Revenue
recognised is based on the price
specified in the contract, net of returns,
promotions, discounts and sales taxes.
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APU Joint Stock Company and Subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Significant accounting policies, continued
{q) Finance income and finance costs

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested. Interest income is recognised as it accrues
in profit or loss, using the effective interest method.

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings. Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised as parst of the cost of the
respective assets. All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest
meathod.

(r) Income taxes

Income 1ax expensa comprises current tax and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax is recognised in
profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or in other
comprehensive income.

{il Current tax

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year,
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable
in respect of pravious years.

{ii) Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes,

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when
they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Group takes intc account the impact of
uncertain tax positions and whether additional taxes and interest may be due. The Group believes that its
accruals for tax liabilities are adequate for open tax years based on its assessment of many factors,
including interpretations of tax law and prior experience. This assessment relies on estimates and
assumptions and may involve a series of judgments about future events. New information may become
available that causes the Group to change its judgment regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilities;
such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the period that such a determination is made.

Deforrad tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except:

- where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

- in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future,
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APU Joint Stock Company and Subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2018

Significant accounting policies, continued
(r) Income taxes, continued
{iiy Deferred tax, continued

Deferred tax assats are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses, 1o the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses can be utilised except:

- where the deferrad tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of an assst or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting prefit nor taxable profit or loss; and

- in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent
that itis probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of dsferred tax asset is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the
axtent that it is no longer probable that sufficiant taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet
date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the
deferred tax asset 1o be utilised.

Deferred tax assats and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when
the asset is realised or the liability is setilsd, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred
tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity and deferred tax arising from a business combination is adjusted against goodwill on
acquisition.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off
current income tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same
taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination, but not satistying the criteriz for separate
recognition at that daie, would be recognised subsequently if new information about facts and
circumstances changed. The adjustment would be treated either as a reduction to goodwili (as long as it
does not exceed goodwill) if incurred during the measurement period or in profit or loss.

{s) Earnings per share

The Group presents basic earnings per share {EPS} data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by
dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary sharehclders of the Group by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period, adjusted for own shares held.

If the number of ordinary or potential ordinary shares outstanding increases as a result of a capitalisation,

bonus issue or share split, or decreases as a result of a reverse share split, the calculation of basic and
diluted earnings per share for all periods presented is adjusted retrospectively.
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APU Joint Stock Company and Subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Slgnificant accounting policies, continued

{t) Related parties

(il A person, of a close member of that person’s tamily, is related to the Group if that person:

s has control ar joint control over the Group;
« has significant influence over the Group; or
e is a member of ihe key management personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent.

(i) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

e the entity and the Group are members of the same group {which means that each parent,
subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries is related to the others);

» one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture
of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member};
both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;
one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

» the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group
or an entity related to the Group; '

« the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (i);

« a person identified in (i} has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

¢ the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

{u) Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may
earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any
of the Group's othar components. The operating segments’ operating results are regularly reviewed by
the Group’s chief operating decision maker {"CODM”) to make decisions about resources to be allocated
to the segment and assess its performance and for which discrete financial information is available.
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APU Joint Stock Company and Subsidiaries
Notes to the Consclidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Property, plant and equipment, continued
Revaluation

The Group applies the revaluation model for all classes of property, plant and equipment. The fair value of
property, plant and equipment which did not form part of the business combination in December 2017
was measured on 1 January 2018 by an independent third party valuation company,
PricewaterhousaeCoopers Tax & Advisory LLP, with experience inthe fixed assets valuation of the beverage
industry in Mongolia.

The following table presents the fair value of the revalued property, plant and machinery (principally part of
APU JSC and APU Dairy LLC) measured on 1 January 2018 categorised into the three-level fair value
hierarchy as defined in IFRS 13, Fair value measurement.

Fair value measurements as

{In thousands of MNT) at 1 January 2018 categorised into
Fair value at
T January
2018 Level 1 Lavel 2 Level 3

Fair value measurement

Buildings 64,590,315 - - 64,690,315
Equipment 124,225,097 - - 124,225,097
Vehicles 3,244,186 - 3,244,186 -
Furniture and fixtures 2,069,620 - - 2,069,620
Other assets 964,415 - - 964,415
Total 195,093,533 - 3,244,186 191,849,347

The following table shows the main valuation techniques used in measuring the fair value of property, plant
and equipment:

Typa Valuation techniques

Buildings Market comparison technique and cost technique: The valuation model
considered market prices for simitar items when they are available, and
depreciated replacement cost when appropriate. Depreciated replacement cost
reflected adjustments for physical deterioration as well as functional and
aconommic ohsolescence.

Equipment Raplacement cost pew: Equipment replacement cost new was estimated
based on the actual prices from signed contracts, manufacturers and
distributors. The contract price method has been applied for the purpose of
estimation the replacement cost new of the analysis subject. The contract price
method assumas the use of the Producer Price Index change in relation to the
initial prices of the assets according to the contracts for the purchases. Indices
were applied to the historical cost. Indices were based on the data published
by statistical agencies of the manufacturing country.

Vehicles Market comparison technigue: The valuation model considers market prices for
similar items when they are available. The applicability of this method is
determined by the existence of an active market, since such analysis is based
on the availability of information on offer prices.

Furniture and Indexation method: Fair value of furniture and fixtures was estimated using the

fixtures indexation method under the cost approach, which described in Equipment.
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APU Joint Stock Company and Subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 Dacember 2019

Property, plant and equipment, continued
Revaluation, continued

The fair value measurement resulted in total revaluation surpluses of MNT 47,047,991 thousand and total
revaluation decreases of MNT 25,059,263 thousand.

A decrease in a carrying amount arising on the revaluation of an item of property, plant and equipment is
charged as an expense to the extent that it exceeds the balance held in the revaiuation surplus relating to
a previous revaluation of that same asset. The total decrease in carrying amount arising on the revaluation
of property, plant and squipment charged as an impairment expense in profit or loss was MNT 1,852,662
thousand, as disclosed in Note 19. The total decrease recognised in other comprehensive income to the
extent of any credit balances which existed in the revaluation surplus in respect of the related assets was
MNT 23,106,611 thousand. The net revaluation surplus after the above recognized in other comprehensive
income was MNT 23,941,380 thousand.

Accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date, 1 January 2018, was eliminated against the gross
carrying amount of the asset and the net amount was restated to the revalued amount of the asset.

As part of the valuation of the property, plant and eguipment, the valuer assessed the useful lives of the
property, plant and equipment, and the accounting useful lives were updated in line with the results of the
valuation.

The carrying amounts of property, plant and squipment that would have been recognised had the assets
been carried under the cost model, are as follows as at 31 December 2018

{in thousands of MNT} 2019 2018
Right-of-use assets 9,194,972 -
Land 4,414,518 4414518
Buildings 74,284,368 74,313,120
Equipment 111,883,647 113,086,101
Vehicles 10,522,936 9,146,748
Furniture and fixtures 7.548,816 5,873,634
Construction in progress 923,633 3,151,513
218,882,790 209,985,534
Collateral

During 2018, pledged buildings and equipment were released as collateral to the banks which provided
loan facilities to the Group following repayment of those loans. During 2019, the Group had no pledged
assets.
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APU Joint Stock Company and Subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Intangible assets and goodwill, continued
Amortisation

The amortisation of trademarks is allocated to the cost of inventory and is included in “Cost of sales” as
inventory is sold; the amortisation of customer relationships is included in “Selling and administrative

expenges”.
impairment testing for CGUs containing goodwill

Following the business combination in December 2017 described in Notes 1 and 13, in 2018 the Group
completed the fair value assessment of the individual assets acquired and liabilities assumed as part of the
Evergrean combination, including the allocation of goodwill to the different business units. The business
combination with Evergreen resulted in the recognition of goodwill of MNT 15,468,093 thousand.

Goodwill from this merger of Evergreen and the Company in December 2017 was attributable mainly to
synergies expected to be achieved from integrating the acquired businesses into the Group's operation
and the related economies of scale from the combined beverages businesses. Goodwill is not deductible

for tax purposes.

The Group identified its three main business units as its CGUs, comprising Vodka, Beer, Dairy and juice.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill was allocated to the Group’s three CGUs as follows:

fin thousands of MNT} ' Carrying amount
2019 2018
Goodwill
Vodka : 7,964,332 7,964,332
Beer 7,503,761 7,503,761

Dairy and juice - .
15,468,093 15,468,093

In each of 2019 and 2018, the Group completed its annual impairment test of goodwill and concluded that,
based on the assumptions applied, no impairment charge was warranted.

The Group cannot predict whether an event that triggers impairment will occur, when it will occur or how
it will affect the value of the assst reparted. The Group believes that all of its estimates are reasonable:
they are consistent with the Group's internal reporting and reflect management’s best estimatas.
Howaver, inherent uncaertainties exist that management may not be able to control.

Goodwill impairment testing relies on a number of critical judgments, estimates and assumptions.
Goodwill, which accounted for approximately 3% of the Group's total assets as at 31 December 2019
{2018: 3%), is tested for impairment at the CGU level. The CGU is the lowest level at which goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes. Except in cases where the initial allocation of goodwill has
not been concluded by the end of the initial reporting period following the business combination, goodwill
is allocated as from the acquisition date to each of the Group's CGUs that are expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination whenever a business combination oceurs.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs were based on their fair value iess costs of disposal, estimated

using discounted cash flows. The fair value measurement was categorised as a level 3 fair value based on
the inputs in the valuation technigue used.
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APU Jeint Stock Company and Subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2012

Intangible assets and goodwill, continued
Impairment testing for CGUs containing goodwill, continued

During its fair value assessment, the Group ran sensitivity analysis for key assumptions including the
weighted average cost of capital and the terminal growth rate. While & change in the estimates used could
have a material impact on the calculation of the fair values and trigger an impairment charge, the Group,
based on the sensitivity analysis performed is not aware of any reasonably possible change in a key
assumption used that would cause a CGU's carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount.

The key judgments, estimates and assumptions used in the discounted cash flow calculations in the
Group's 2019 impairment test were generally as follows:

{ii Cash flows are based on the Group’s annual business plan and next three years of the model, cash
flows are based on the Group's strategic plan. The Group's annual business plan and strategic plan
are prepared by each business unit {CGU) and are based on external sources in respect of macro-
economic assumptions, industry, inflation and foreign exchange rates, past experience and identified
initiatives in terms of market share, revenus, variable and fixed cost, capital expenditure and working
capital assumptions;

{il  Projections are discounted at the weighted average cost of capital (WACC). consideting sehsitivities
on this metric;

lil Cost to sell is assumed to reach 2% of the entity value based on historical precedents;

{iv) The terminal growth rate applied after the first four year period was 4%. The terminal growth rata
was dstermined based on management's estimate of the long-term compound annual cash flow
growth rate combined with expectations of long-term consumer price indices; and

(v} The discount rate applied was 16.2%.

In the sensitivity analysis performed by management, an adverse change of 1% in the discount rate would
not cause a CGU’s carrying amouint to exceed its recoverable amount.

Although the Group believes that its judgments, assumptions and estimates are appropriate, actual results
may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or market or macro-economic conditions.
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APU Joint Stock Company and Subsidiaries

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Inventories

Inventories as at 31 Decernber are as follows:

{in thousands of MNT) 31 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2018
Finished goods 25,308,759 20,991,649
Work-in-progress 2,815,083 3,427,220
Raw materials and consumables 21,036,769 16,286,376
Packaging 32,615,369 30,427,102
Supplies inventory 5,848,067 6,832,220
Goods in transit 2,068,322 36,957
Allowance for slow moving and obsolete items (1,170,827 {1,211,368)
89,621,542 76,790,056

In 2019, invertories of MNT 259,599,982 thousand (2018: MINT 246,752,299 thousand) were recognised

as an expense during the year and included in ‘Cost of sales'.

Movement in the allowance for slow moving and cbsolete items:

fin thousands of MNT) 2019 2018
Balance at 1 January 1,211,368 1,300,764
Addition to allowance for slow moving and obsolete
itermns 918,876 818,224
Reversal of allowance {318,795} (88.765)
Written ofi {640,622} (618,865)
Balance at 31 December 1,170,827 1,211,368
The impairment loss on slow moving and cbsolete items is included in *Cost of sales’.
Prepayments and prepaid expenses
Prepayments and prepaid expenses as at 31 Dacember are as follows:
fin thousands of MNT) 31 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2018
New projects 259,616 609,261
Prepayments for raw materials 7,219,675 8,058,381
Others 1,873,547 2,243,620
9,352,738 10,911,252
Movement in the allowance for impairment 108s on prepayments:
{in thousands of MINT) 2019 2018
Balance at 1 January - 294,121
Reversal - {16,685}
Written-off {277,436)

Balance at 31 December -
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Trade and other receivables

(a) Trade and other receivables as at 31 December are summarised as follows:

{in thousands of MINT) 31 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2018
Trade receivables due from third parties 33,793,264 31,776,700
Trade receivables due from related perties (Note 27) - 55,549
Trade receivables 33,793,264 31,833,249
Other receivables due from related parties {Note 27) 2,417,388 2,354,833
QOther taxes receivable 4,496,428 2,005,636
Qiher receivables due from third parties 1,952,885 1,472,036
Other receivables 8,866,701 5,832,505
Impairment allowance for doubtful accounts (2.837,189) (2,677,612)
39,822,776 34,988,142

(b) The aging of trade and other receivables is summarised as follows:

{in thousands of MNT) 2019 2018
Receivable Recsivable
before Impairment before Impairment
allowance allowance allowance allowance
Not past dus 22,022,911 {3,653) 25,013,370 (33,021)
Past due less than 30 days 12,002,924 (73,510} 8,572,349 (14,737
Past dus 31-90 days 5,460,036 {114,657) 940,357 (2,951)
Past dus 91-180 days 680,172 {167,969) 431,834 {178,280)
Past due 181-365b days 140,868 {121,583} 168,303 {92,926)
Past due more than one year 2,463,064 {2,355,777) 2,639,641 (2,355,697
42,659,965 (2,837,189} 37,665,754 {2.677,612)

{¢) Changes in allowance for doubtful accounts as at 31 December are summarised as follows:

{In thousands of MNT) 2019 2018

Balance at 1 January 2,677,612 2,436,860
Additicn to allowance 328,368 713,202
Reversal of allowance (158,025) {108,487)
Write-off of allowance (10,756) {363,963}
Balance at 31 December 2,837,189 2,671,612

The Group believes that the outstanding amounts that are past due by more than 30 days are collectible
based on analysis of the custormners. Based on historic default rates, the Group believes that, apart from
the above, no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of trade recsivables past due or past due by
up to 30 days.

The Group is monitoring the economic environment in Mongolia and is taking actions to Jimit its exposure
to eustomers experiencing particular financial difficulties. Loss allowances are based on actual credit loss
experience of the Group over the past years. The Group also considers the economic conditions during the
pericd over which the historical data has been collected, current conditions and the Group's view of
economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.
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Trade and other receivables, continued

The Group determines on sach reporting date the impairment of trade and other raceivables using a mode!
which estimates the lifetime expected credit losses that will be incurred on these receivables. Individuatly
significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining financial assets

12.

13.

are assessed collactively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics.

For more information on the Group's credit risk exposure refer to Note 25 (a).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December are summarised as follows:

fin thousands of MNT) 31 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2018
Cash on hand 2,028,651 2,646,323
Bank balances 48,248,227 58,577,675
Impairment on bank balances (239,957) -
50,034,921 61,123,898

The Group considers that its cash and cash equivalents have low credit risk.

Share capital, share premium and reserves

Merger with Evergreen Investments LLC

The merger with Evergreen Investments LLC described in Note 1 was implemented through a series of
steps and completed on 22 December 2017 after appropriate approvals were received from the related
authorities, During the final step, Evergreen Investrnents LLC merged into the Group.

The merger resulted in the following equity reorganisation:

On 18 August 2017, shareholders of the Group approved the issuance of 321,306 thousand new ordinary
shares to Evergreen Investments LLC's shareholders through a total capital increase of MNT 338,127,000
thousand, comprising MNT 32,130 thousand share capital and MNT 338,094,870 thousand share premium,
as deal consideration for the merger with Evergreen Investments LLC.

The price of each hew share was MNT 1,0562.36 (rounded), whereas the par value of the Group's ordinary
shares was MNT 0.1. Evergreen Investments LLC's owners received shares issued by the Group as

follows:

{in thousands of shares) Issuance of new shares (upon merger}

Shareholders Number of sharas %

Heinsken Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd 266,092 25%

Mongolian Beverage Investments LLC

{subsidiary of Shunkhlai Group LLC) 55,213 5.19%
321,305 30.19%
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Share capital, share premium and reserves, continued

a. Ordinary shares authorised and issued

{in thousands of MNT and shares) 2019 2018
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
1 January 1,064,182 106,418 1,064,182 106,418
Share capital increase - - - -
31 December 1,064,182 106,418 1,064,182 106,418

b. Treasury shares

{in thousands of MNT and shares) Issued capital

Number of shares Amount
1 January 2019 and 2018 {1,207 (121)
Changes during the year - -
31 Deecember 2019 and 2018 {1,207) {121}

Share capital as at 31 December 2018 and 2019 after deducting treasury shares consists of 1,062,975
thousand shares, with a par value of MNT 0.1,

¢. Share premiurn

On 18 August 2017, shareholders of the Group approved the issuance of 321,305 thousand new ordinary
shares to Evergresn Investments LLC's shareholders at the price of each new share of MNT 1.052.35.
The differance between the new share issuance price and its par value was recorded as share premium,
in an amount of MNT 338,094,870 thousand.

d Merger reseive

The equity shares issued by the Group for its merger with Evergreen is the consideration transferred for
this business combination. In measuring the fair value of the equity instrument, the market price of the
Group’s shares was used, as a Level 1 fair value measurement. The difference between the fair value of
the shares issued and the legal registered value of the issued shares was recognised as a Merger Reserve
in the amount of MNT 112,795,804 thousand.

e. Dividends
On 19 February 2019, the Group declared dividends of MNT 46 per share (2018: WNT 10 per shara),

totalling MNT 48,898,753 thousand (2018: MNT 10,629,747 thousand). The Group paid dividends
amounting 1o MNT 77,121,281 thousand to its shareholders in 2019 (2018 MNT 1,101,708 thousand).

f Revaluation reserve

The revaluation reserve relates to the revaluation of property, plant and equipment, A fair value
measurament of the Group's property, plant and equipment as at 1 January 2018 was performed by an
independent third party valuation company, leading to a net increase in the revaluation reserve of MNT
23,941,380 thousand.
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Share capital, share premium and reserves, continued

Movements in the revaluation reserve:

{in thousands of MNT) 2019 2018

Balance at 1 January 102,499,344 78,756,448

Revaluation surplus {Note 7) - 47,047,991

Revaluation losses recognized in other

comprehensive income (Note 7) - (23,106,611)

Transfers to retained earnings (1,041,225) {198,484)
101,458,119 102,499,344

Revaluation losses recognized in other comprehensive income in 2018 comprises revaluation losses on

previously revalued assets.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables as at 31 December are summarised as follows:

ifn thousands of MNT) 31 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2018
Trade payables due to third parties 10,748,350 11,293,826
Trade payables due to related parties {Note 27) 1,253,430 548,401
Trade payables 12,001,780 11,842,227
Other payables to related parties {Note 27) 73,648 597,394
Other payables to third parties 7,855,448 6,259,423
Texes payable 11,092,787 13,160,275
Dividends payable (Note 27) 2,376,446 30,588,974
Other payables 21,398,329 50,656,066
33,400,109 62,498,293

Taxes pavable include excise taxes amounting to MNT 9,646,704 thousand and MNT 9,091,352 thousand,
and value added taxes amounting to MNT 1,306,721 thousand and MNT 3,655,028 thousand as at 31

Decamber 2019 and 2018, respeciively.

Revsnue

Revenue by types of products for the year ended 31 December 2019 is as follows:

(in thousands of MNT} 2019 2018

Vodka 365,683,016 333,834,103

Beer 223,977,745 209,251,099

Other products 68,202 551 46,468,875

Excise tax expense (175,129,074) (163,645,846}
472,634,238 425,908,231
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18. Cost of sales

Cost of sales by types of products for the year ended 31 Decerber 20183 is as follows:

{in thousand's of MNT) 2019 2018

Vodka 116,763,355 114,120,001

Beer 92,776,969 87,120,213

Other products 50,659,739 45,041,644
260,200,083 247,281,758

17. Selling and administrative expenses

Details of seliing and administrative expenses for the year ended 31 December 2013 are as follows:

fint thousands of MNT) 2018 2018
Wages and remuneration 34,463,635 29,109,637
Depreciation and amortization 16,184,493 15,879,307
Distribution 15,674,399 15,806,889
Professional and other service fees 12,420,807 12,806,500
Marketing and advertising 8,072,617 12,626,114
Social insurance premium 3,393,309 2,417,840
Transportation 2,944,739 1,963,797
Repairs and maintenance 2,874,337 2,740,800
Rental and leases 2,237,994 3,887,432
Business trips 1,923,867 1,356,736
Communications 1,473,356 773,038
Ingurance 950,763 1,139,544
HR and trainings 887,394 932,207
Food materials 746,444 912,856
Research and development 726,760 473,058
Utlities 618,794 604,365
Occupational safety 523,684 735,673
License fees 293,372 -
Others 5,032,255 3,677,639
112,451,819 107,840,432
18. Other income
Details of other income for the year ended 31 December 2019 are as follows:
{in thousands of MNT) 2019 2018
Renital 268,683 248,376
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 197,345 500
Income from sale of by-products 1,343,671 1,648,650
Other 1,318,813 1,686,529
3,128412 3,584,055
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Other expenses

Details of other expenses for the year endad 31 December 2019 are as follows:

(in thousands of MNT)

Cost from sale of hy-products

Loss on write-off of property, plant and equipment
Panalties and fees

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Qther employee benefits

Loss on write-off of intangible assets

impairment loss on property, plant and equipment
Other

Finance income

Datails of finance income for the year ended 31 December 2019 are as follows:

{in thousands of MNT}
Interest income

Finance ¢osts

Details of finance costs for the year ended 31 Decamber 2018 are as follows:

fin thousands of MNT)

Interest expense on loans

Interest expense on leasa liabilities (Note 23)
Foreign exchange loss, net

56

2019 2018
1,073,044 1,407,406
502,942 281,105
473,358 51,130
255,885 48,765
27,958 21,542
4,854 -
- 1,952,652
967,443 765,595
3,305,484 4,528,195
2019 2018
1,728,328 1,822,207
1,728,328 1,822,207
2019 2018
- 3,179,756
2,203,914 _
371,597 1,912,163
2,575,511 5,091,919
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Income taxes

{i) Income taxes recognised for the year endsd 31 December 2018 are as follows:

{in thousands of MNT) 2019 2018

Current tax expense 25,298,507 13,843,490

Deferred tax (benefit) expense {2,863,591) 3,881,420
22,434.916 17,724,910

According to Mongalian Tax Laws, the Group has an obligation to pay Government Corporate Income Tax
of 10% (2018: 10%) on the portion of taxable profits up to MNT 3 billion and 25% (2018: 25%) on the
portion of taxable profits above MNT 3 billion, if the Group earns revenue from operating activities. Since
2020, under new tax legistation, a 10% tax rate is applied for taxable profits up to MNT & billion and 25%
on the portion of taxable profits above MNT 6 billion.

According to Russian Corporate Income Tax Law, the corporate tax rate is 20% (2018: 20%). Tax payments
are split into federal part {2%) and regional part {18% that can be reduced to 13.6% for some categories

of taxpayers}.

According to Singaporean Corporate Income Tax Law, the headline corporate tax rate is 17% and the
companies are eligible for partial tax exemption which eftactively translates to 8.5% tax raie on taxable
income of up to SGD 300,000 per financial year.

{i) Reconciliation of the effective tax raie is as follows:

{in thousands of MNT) 2019 2018

Profit bafore tax 98,547,811 65,967,474
Tax using the Group's statutory tax rate of 26% 24,636,963 16,491,869
Efiect of tax rates in foreign jurisdiction 11,475 5,921
Effect of non-daductible expenses 1,160,899 2,633,368
Effect of non-taxable income {432,082} {455,652}
Effect of progressive tax rate of 10% on the portion of

taxable profits up to MNT 3 billion (2,674,218) {1,922,406)
Current year losses for which no deferred tax is

recognised 911,659 1,299,515
Derecognition of previously recognised temporary

differences following group restructuring (817.244) -
Change in effective tax rates (635,361) {510,026)
Tax using special tax rate of 10% 172,833 182,221
Income tax for the year 22,434,916 17,724,910
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Income taxes, continued

{iiiy Changes in deferred tax assets (liabilities) for the year ended 31 December 2019 are as follows:

{in thousands of MNT) 2019
Beginning Changes in

balance Profit or loss exchange rate Ending balance
Unrealised foreign exchange losses 35,163 18,892 - 54,055
Unrealised foraign exchange gains - (24,578) - (24,578)
Prepaymsnts {29,898) 25,898 - -
Accruals 587.811 (624,369} - 63,442
Intangible assets {20,311,709) 1,652,285 . {18,659,424)
Property, plant and equipment 528,601 {315,953} - 212,848
Property, plant and equipment (2,613,03b) 1,813,281 {699,754}
Carry-forward tax losses 138,206 114,135 22,6h9 274,900

' (21,664,861} 2,863,591 22,559 (18,778,711}
fin thousands of MNT) 2018
Baginning Changes In

balance Profit or less exchangerate  Ending balance
Unrealised foreign exchange losses,
net 5,696,799 (5,681,636) - 35,183
Prepaymenis (162,922} 133,024 - {29,898}
Accruals 256,070 331,741 - 587,811
Intangible assets {21,963,994) 1,652,285 - (20,311,709)
Property, plant and eguipment 181,434 347,167 - 528,601
Property, plant and equipment {1,925,034) (684,001) - {2,613,035)
Carry-forward tax losses 153,190 - (14,984) 138,208

{17,768,457) (3,881,420} {14,984) {21,664,861)

(iv} The aggregate amounts of deferred tax assets and liabilities, and current tax assets and liabilities before

offsetting are as follows:

fin thaousands of MNT) 2019 2018

Dafarred tax assets 605,045 1,289,781
Deferred tax liabilities {19,383,756) (22,954,642)
Current tax assets {liabilities), net 2,690,158 {3,800,067)

Mongolian tax, currency and customs legislation is subject to varying interpretations, and changes, which
can oceur frequently. Management's interpretation of such legislation as applied to the transactions and
activity of the Group may be challenged by tax authorities.

Mongolian tax authorities may be taking a more assertive position in their interpretation of the legislation
and assessments, and it is possible the transactions and activities that have not been challenged in the
past may be challenged by the tax authorities. As a result, significant additional taxes, penalties and interest
may be assessed. Fiscal periods remain open to review by the authorities in respect of taxes for tour {until
2019 five) calendar years preceding the year when decisions about the review was made. Under certain
circumstances reviews may cover longer periods.
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income taxes, continued

Mongolian transfer pricing (TP} legislation effective from 1 January 2020 is generally aligned with the
international TP principles developed by the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development
{OECD), although it has specific features. The TP legislation provides for the possibility of additional tax
assessment for controlled transactions (transactions between related parties and certain transactions
between unrelated parties) if such transactions are not on an arm’s-length basis. The management has
implemented a plan and procedures to comply with current TP legislation.

As Mongolian tax legislation dces not provide definitive guidance in certain areas, the Group adopts, from
time to time, intarpretations of such uncertain areas that reduce the overall tax rate of the Group. While
managernent currently estimates that the tax positions and interpretations that it has taken can probably
be sustained, thers is a possible risk that an outflow of resources will be required should such tax positions

and interpretations be challenged by the tax authorities. The impact of any such challenge cannot be reliably
estimated: however, it may be significant to the financial position and/or the overall operations of the

Group.

Leases

Ses accounting policy in Note 6 {j).

Leases as lessee {IFRS 16)

The Group leases a number of assets including a restaurant, an office and factory facilities, the contracts
for which run for a period of ons to ten years, with options to renew the leases after these dates. Lease
payments are renegotiated upon renewal. The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and
liabilities for shortterm andfor leases of low-value iterns.

Previously, these leases were classified as operating leases under IAS 17.

Information about leases for which the Group is a lessee is presented below.

i. Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets relate to leased premises that are presented within property and equipment {Note 7).

{In thousands of MNT] 2019

Balance at 1 January 11,386,767
Depreciation charge for the year {2,181,79b})
Balance at 31 December 9,194,972

ii. Amounts recognised in profit or loss

fin thousands of MNT) Total

2019 - Leases under \FRS 16

Interest on lease liabilities (Note 21} 2,203,914
Expenses relating to short-term and low value leases 2,237,994

2018 - Operating leases under JAS 17
Lease expense 5,468,719
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Leasas, continued

iii. Amounts recognised in statement of cash flows

fin thousands of MNT) 2019
Total cash outflow for leases 3,445,733

Some property leases contain extension aptions exercisable by the Group. The Group assesses at lease
commencement date whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the extension options. The Group
reassesses whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the options if there is a significant event or
significant changes in circumstances within its control.

Capital management

The Group’s primary objective when managing capital is to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholder and benefits for the other
stakeholders. The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to maintain a
balance beiween the higher shareholder returns and the advantages and security afforded by a sound
capital position.

In 2019 and 2018 the Group has not been subject to externally imposed capital requirements as the Group
fully repaid its loans from external lenders EBRD and Credit Suisse in 2018.

Financial instruments
Financial risk management

Ovarview

The Group has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments:

e Creditrisk
¢« Liquidity risk
» Marketrisk

This note presents information about the Group's exposure to each of the above risks, the Group's
ohjectives, policies and processes for measuring risk, and the Group's management of capital. Further
quantitative disclosures are included throughout these consolidated finangcial statements.

Risk management frameworlk

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group's risk
management frameawork.

The Group's risk management policies are established to identity and analyse the risks faced by the Group,
to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management
policies and systems are reviewed regularly 1o reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s
activities. The Group, through its training and management Standards and procedures, aims to develop 2
disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and
obligations.
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Financial instruments, continued
Financial risk management, continued
{a) Creditrisk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if 8 customer or counterparty te a financial instrument
fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers.

Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure
to credit risk at the reporting date was as follows:

fln thousands of MNT) Carrying amount

Current: 2019 2018

Trade and other recaivables™ 35,325,348 32,982,506

Bank balances 48,008,270 58,577,575
83,334,618 91,560,081

*axcludes taxes receivable of MNT 4,498,428 thousand in 2019 and MNT 2,005,636 thousand in 2018.

Impairment losses on financial assets recognised in profit or loss were as follows:

{in thousands of MNT)} 2013 2018

Impairment loss on trade and other receivables 328,368 713,202

impairment loss on bank balances 238,957 -

Reversal of impairment loss on trade and other

receivables (158,025) (108,487}
410,290 604,715

Trade and other receivables

The Group‘s management has credit policies in place and the exposurs to credit risk is menitored on an
ongoing basis. Under these policies all customers requiring credit above a certain amount are reviewed
and new customers are analysed individually for creditworthiness before the Group’s payment and delivery
terms and conditions are offered. Credit limits are determined for each customer and are reviewed
regularly. Customers that fail to meet the Group’s credit requirements transact only with the Group on a
prepayment basis or cash paid on delivery.

Customners are monitorad according to their credit risk characteristics, including whether they are an
individual or legal entity, type of distribution channel, location, ageing profile, maturity and existence of
previous financial difficulties.

The Group requires collateral in respect of wholesaler and contract customers. The Group does not have
trade receivables for which no allowance is recognized because of collateral.
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Financial instrumeants, continued
Financial risk management, continued
(a) Credit risk, continued

Trade and other receivables, continued

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade and other receivables (excluding taxes) at the reporting date
by geographic region was as follows:

{in thousands of MNT} Carrying amount
2019 2018
Domestic 34,648,731 32,345,730
Foreign 678,617 636,776
35,326,348 32,982,506

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade and other receivables at the reporting date by type of
counterparty was:

{In thousands of MNT) Carrying amount
2019 2018
Wholesale and retail customers 29,622,337 28,007,221
Other customers 1,333,738 1,148,416
Qther receivables 4,370,273 3,826,869
35,326,348 32,982,506

Expected credit loss (ECL) assessment as at 31 December 2019

The Group establishes allowances for impairment of trade and other receivables using an expected cradit
losses model. These allowances cover specific loss components that relate to individual exposures, and a
collective loss component established for groups of similar customers.

The collective loss allowanes is determined based on historical data of payment statistics and updated
periodically to incorporate forward looking information. The trade and other receivables are written off
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.

The following tables provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade and other
receivables.

{in thousands of MNT)
Gross carrying

31 Decembaer 2019 amount Loss allowance Credit-impaired
Not past due 17,526,483 {3,663) 0.02%
Past due less than 30 days 12,002,924 (73,510} 0.61%
Past due 31-90 days 5,450,036 (114,697} 2.10%
Past dug 91-180 days 580,172 (167,969) 28.95%
Past due 181-366 days 140,868 {121,583) 86.31%
Past due more than ons year 2,463,054 {2,355,777) 95.64%

38,163,537 (2,837,189} 7.43%

62



o, Rty

APU Joint Stock Company and Subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Financial instruments, continued
Financial risk management, continued
{a) Credit risk, continued

Expected credit loss (ECL) assessment as at 31 December 2019, continued

{in thousands of MNTj
Grass carrying

31 Dacember 2018 amount Loss allowance Credit-impaired
Not past due 23,007,734 (33,021) 0.14%
Past due less than 30 days 8,572,349 (14,737) 0.17%
Past due 31-20 days 940,357 (2,951} 0.31%
Past due 91-180 days 431,834 {178,280) 41.28%
Past due 181-365 days 168,303 {92,926} 55.21%
Past due more than one year 2,539,541 (2,355,697) 92.76%

35,660,118 {2,677,612) 7.61%

Movements in the allowancs for impairment in respect of trade and other receivables

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respact of bank balances, trade and other receivables

during the year was as follows.

{n thousands of MINT) 2019 2018

Balance at 1 January 2,677,612 2,436,860
Amnounts written-off {(10,756) (363,963)
Addition to allowance for doubtful accounts 568,315 713,202
Reversal of allowance for doubtful accounts {168,0256) {108,487}
Balance at 31 December 2,077,146 2,677,612

Trade and other receivables with a contractual amount of MNT 10,7686 thousand (2018: 363,983 thousand}

written off during the year are subject to enforcement activity.

(b} Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with
its financial liabilities that are settlad by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group’s approach to
managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its
liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or

risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

The Group monitors the level of expected cash inflows on trade and other receivables together with

expected cash outflows on trade and other payables.
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Financial instruments, continued
Financial risk management, continued
{b) Liquidity risk, continued

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments
and excluding the impact of netting agreements:

As at 31 December 2019

Carrying GContractual 6 months 6-12 Over 2
{In thousands of MNT) amount cash flows or less months 1-2 years years
Trade and other payables 19,930,876 19,930,876 19,930,876 - - -
Lease liabilities 10,122,232 14,994,038 1,800,449 1,800,449 3,600,900 7,792,240
Dividends payable 2,376,446 2,376,446 2,376,446 - - -

32,429,554 37,301,360 24,107,771 1.800448 3,600,900 27,792,240

*excludes taxes payabls of MNT 11,092,787 thousand in 2018,

As at 31 December 2018

ftn thousands of MINT) g:l::)‘::? (iz:;r;’lzt:.rasl ° mcl’::: "o 6-12 months 1-2 yoars

Trade and other payables 18,735,044 18,739,044 17,191,066 1,547,988 -

Dividends payable-

undefined 30,598,974 30,588,974 - - -
49,338,018 45,338,018 17,191,056 1,547,988 -

*excludes taxes payable of MNT 13,160,276 thousand in 2018,

{c} Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates,
will affect the Group's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market

risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while
optimising the return.

Tha Group does not use derivatives to manage market risks.
Currancy risk
The Group is exposed to currency risk on sales, purchases and borrowings that are denominated in a

currency other than the functional currency of the Group, MNT. The currencies in which these transactions
are primarily denominated are US Dollars (USD), Euro (EUR), Chinese Yuan (CNY) and Russian Ruble (RUB).
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25. Financial instruments, continued
Financial risk management, continued
(¢) Market risk, continued
Currency risk, continued
{i) Exposure tc currency risk

As at 31 December 2019

; {in thousandgs of MNT) usD EUR CNY RUB Other

! Trade and other receivables 667,319 63,217 487,668 1,238,591

; Cash and cash eguivalents 4,068,627 71,068 214,367 349,090 5,870

_ Trade and other payables {5,928,791) {1,621,919} i1,170,725) (343,557) {102,708)

1 {1,212,845) {1,487,8634) {568,690) 1,242,124 (96,838}

t As at 31 December 2018

! i thousands of MNT) uspD EUR CNY RUB Other

I Trade and other raceivables 635,822 g81,819 47.316 1,162,529 8,700

. Cash and cash eguivalents 1,793,183 162,410 315,555 168,650 424,439

! Trade and other payables 4,711,019 (3,649,672 {2,594,885) {813,954) (119,552}
{2,282,214) (3,315,443} 2,232,024} 505,225 314,687

i The following significant exchange rates were applied during the year.

] Average rate

Reporting date spot rate

' {in MNT) 2019 2018 2019 2018
L usD 2,664 2,473 2,734 2,643
: EUR 2,982 2,919 3,081 3,029
CNY 386 374 391 386
g RUB A1 40 44 38
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Financial instruments, continued

Financial risk management, continued

{c) Market risk, continued

Currency risk, cantinued

(i Sensitivity analysis (before tax)

A strengthening (weakening) of the MNT against the USD, EUR, CNY and RUB at 31 December, would
have increased (decreased) profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis is based on foreign
currency exchange rate variances that the Group considered to be reasonably possible at the reporting

date. The analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant and ignores
any impact of forecasted sales and purchases.

{In thausands of MINT) Profit (Loss) befora tax
Strengthening Weakening

31 Dacember 2019

USD 8% movement) 60,642 (60,642)
EUR (5% movemant) 74,382 (74,382)
CNY (5% movement) - 23,438 (23,4356}
RUB (5% movement} {62,1086) 62,106
31 December 2018

USD (5% movement) 114,111 (114,111}
EUR (5% movement) 95,271 (95,271}
CNY {5% movement) 111,801 {111,601)
RUB 5% movement) {25,261) 25,261

{d} Interest rate risk

At the reporting date, the Group had no interest-bearing financial loan instruments.

{In thousands of MNT) Carrying amount
2019 2018

Fixed rate instruments

Financizal liabilities - -
Variable rate instruments

Financial liabilities - -

{e]} Fair valuas

Financial instruments comprise financial assets and financial liabilities. The fair value of a financiel
instrument is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:
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Financial instruments, continued

Financial visk management, continued

(e} Fair values, continued

Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability;
sither directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly {i.e. derived from prices]; and

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data {uncbservable inputs).

The following describes the methodologies and assumptions used to determine fair values for those
financial instruments which are not already recorded at tair value in the consclidated financial statements:

Assets for which fair value approximates carrying value

For financial assets and financial lighilities that are liquid or having short term maturity {less than one year},
it is assumed that the carrying amounts approximate to their fair value due to their short term to maturity.

Financial instruments

The fair value of fixed rate financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost are estimated by
comparing markst interest rates when they were first recognised with current market rates offerad for
similar financial instruments.

Fair values versus carrying amounts

The fair values of tinancial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the
consolidated staternent of financial position, are as follows:

(In thousands of MNT) 2019 2018
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value

Assets carried at amortised cost

Trade and other receivables 36,326,348 35,326,348 32,982,506 32,982,506

Cash and cash equivalents 50,034,921 50,034,921 61,123,898 61,123,898
85,361,269 85,361,269 94,106,404 94,106,404

Liabilities carried at amortised

cost

Trade and other payables 22,307,322 22,307,322 49,338,018 49,338,018
22,307,322 22,307,322 49,338,018 49,338,018

The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer

the liability takes place either:

s In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
+ In the absencs of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

For assets and habilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing
catagorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole}
at the end of each reporting period.
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Financial instruments, continued
Financial risk management, continued
(e} Fair values, continued

Transfers between levels

There were no transfers between levels 1 to 3 of the fair value hierarchy for the assets and liabilities which
are recorded at fair value.

Non-controlling interest

As of 31 December 2018 and 2018, non-controlling interests relate to Spirt Bal Buram LLC, a subsidiary in
which the Group has 100% and 97.2% ownership in 2019 and 2018, respectively. The following table
summarises the information relating to Spirt Bal Buram LLC, before any intra-group eliminations.

fin thousands of MNT} 2019 2018
Non-current assets ' - 55,081,546
Current assets - 24,578,276
Nen-current liabilities - {7,482,038)
Currant liabilities - (11,742,245)
Net assets - 60,435,541
Net assets attributable 1o NCI - 1,731,044
Revenue 16,588,221 48,064,130
Profit for the year 1,333,126 3,358,697
Total comprehensive income 1,333,126 3,358,697
Profit attributable to NCI 50,406 89,266
Cash flows from operating activities 1,038,973 8,130,480
Cash flows from investing activities {47,717) {6504,229)
Cash flows from financing activities {692} {10,677,369)
Net increase {decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 990,664 (2,951,118)
Aecquisition of NCI

In May 2019, the Group acquired an additional 2.8% interest in Spirt Bal Buram LLC, increasing its
ownership from 97.2% to 100%. The carrying amount of Spirt Bal Buram LLC’s net assets in the Group’s
consolidated financia! statements on the date of the acquisition was MNT 83,668,458 thousand.

{In thousands of MNT) Amount

Carrying amount of NCI acquired {MNT 63,566,459 x 2.8025%!} 1,781,450
Cash consideration paid to NCI in current year {57,686}
Cash consideration paid to NCI in previous years (303,662)
Increase in equity attributable to owners of the Company 1,420,102

The increase in equity attributable to owners of the Company comprised an increase in retained eamnings
of MNT 1,420,102 thousand.
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Related parties

{a} As at 31 December 2019, the main related parties to the Group are as follows:

Name of party

Ralationship at 31 December 2019

a. Ultimate controlling party and main direct shareholders

Shunkhlai Group LLC
Heineken Asia Pacific Pte Ltd
Steppe Beverage KFT

Mongolian Beverage Investrments LLC

Zennor International Ltd {(BVI)

b. Associated companies and others {*}

Capital Group LLC

Shunkhlai LLGC

Shunkhiai Trading LLC
Shunkhlai Petroleurn LLC
Shunkhlai Gobi LLC

Kia Motors Mongolia LLC
Hyundai Motors Mongolia LLC
Media Group LLC

NTV Broadcasting LLC

Public Media LLC

Amilan. E LLC

Manzakh LLC

Suntrans Logistics LLC

GSB Resourse LLC

GSB Mining LLC

Shunkhlai Mining LLC
Shunkhlai Mining Cayman LLC
Power Unit LLC

Mongo! Motor Group LLC -
Golden Chance LLC

Mongol Hyundai Kia Service LLC
Kohlbeker MNG LLC

Great Empire LLC

Wan Trade LLC

Altan Uguumur LLC

SD Service LLC

Suren Alt LLC

Ultimate controlling party, directly owns 50.84%

Sharsholder, owns 25%
Sharehclder, owns 13.42%

Subsidiary of Shunkhlai Group LLC and 5.19%

owner of the Group
Shareholder, owns 0.2%

100% owned hy the Company’s Chairman

Subsidiary of Shunkhlai Group LLC
Subsidiary of Shunkhlai Group LLC
Subsidiary of Shunkhlai Group LLC
Subsidiary of Shunkhlai Group LLC
Subsidiary of Shunkhlai Group LLC
Subsidiary of Shunkhlai Group LLC
Subsidiary of Shunkhlai Group LLC
Subsidiary of Shunihiai Group LLC
Subsidiary of Shunkhlai Group LLC
Subsidiary of Shunkhlai Group LLC
Subsidiary of Shunkhlai Group LLC
Subsidiary of Shunkhlai Group LLC
Subsidiary of Shunkhlai Group LLC
Subsidiary of Shunkhiai Group LLC
Subsidiary of Shunkhlai Group LLC
Subsidiary of Shunkhlai Group LLC
Subsidiary of Shunkhiai Group LLC
Subsidiary of Shunkhlai Group LLC
Subsidiary of Shunkhlai Group LLC
Subsidiary of Shunkhlai Group LLC
Subsidiary of Shunkhlai Group LLC
Subsidiary of Capital Group LLC

Subsidiary of Capital Group LLC

Subsidiary of Shunkhlai Group LLC
Subsidiary of Shunkhlai Group LLC
Subsidiary of Shunkhlai Group LLC
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Related parties, continued

{a) As at 31 December 2019, the main related parties to the Group are as follows, continued:

Name of party Relationship at 31 Dacember 2019

b. Associated companies and others (*)

Barilgiin Birj LLC Subsidiary of Shunkhlai Group LLC

S Development LLC Subsidiary of Shunkhlai Group LLC

SBTM LLC Subsidiary of Shunkhlai Group LLC

PDRS LLC Subsidiary of Shunkhlai Group LLC

DSG LLC Subsidiary of Shunkhlai Group LLC

SD Engineering and Construction LLC Subsidiary of Shunkhlai Group LLC

Borshoon Buyant LLC Subsidiary of Shunkhlai Group LLC

Ulaanbaatar Cinema LLC Joint venture of Shunkhlai Group LLC

Skytel LLC Joint venture of Shunkhlai Group LLC

Skymedia LLC Joint venture of Shunkhiai Group LLC

(3SB Capital NBFI LLC Subsidiary of Shunkhlai Group LLC

International Medical Center LLC Associate of Shunkhlai Group LLC

Bayanteeg LLC Associate of Shunkhlai Group LLC

Mongol Daatgal LLC Related party through key management

Blue Sky Cashmere LLC Related party through key management

Gofro LLC Related party through key management

Daamai Consulting LLC Related party through key management

River Bakery LLC Related party through key management

Chinggis Khan Bank Related party through key management

Bat Gan Agro LLC Related party through key management

Heineken Company Timor-Leste Related party through Heineken Asia Pacific Pte.Ltd
Heineken Myanmar LTD Related party through Heineken Asia Pacific Pte.Ltd
Heineken Supply Chain BV Relatad party through Heineken Asia Pacific Pte.Ltd
Heineken International B.V. Related party through Heineken Asia Pacific Pte.Ltd
Heineken United Brewery LLC Related party through Heineken Asia Pacific Pte.Ltd
AB Heineken Philippines Inc. Related party through Heineken Asia Pacific Pte.Ltd
Heineken Global Shared Services Sp. z 0.0. Related party through Heineken Asia Pacific Pte.Ltd

(*] Other related parties which had no transactions with the Group are excluded from the related party hist.
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Related parties, continued

{b) Related party transactions

{in thousands of MNT)

Transaction value

Revenue and cost of sales

- Sales to other related parties
- Purchase of goods and services from ather related
parties '

Other income

- Rental income - other related parties

- Security services - other related parties

- Interest and other income - other related parties

Other expenses
- Management fees - shareholders

- Insurance - other related parties

- Selling and distribution expenses - other related
parties

- Other expenses - other related parties

Other transactions

- Lease payments - other related parties
- Dividends declared

- Dividends paid

Transactions with key management personnel
- BOD members

- Executive management

Purchases of property, plant and equipment
- Other related parties

7

2019 2018

707,747 675,434
26,188,822 20,747,748
94,116 120,701

- 36,000

88,871 194,982
4,645,455 4,545,455
1,178,000 368,290

- 2,608,207

1,687,418 1,781,072
3,087,273 2,819,829
48,896,850 10,628,747
77,121,281 1,101,706
748,059 746,833
4,606,978 3,713,158
824,454 618,861
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Related parties, continued
lc} Related parties outstanding balances

{in thousands of MNT)

Balance outstanding

2019 2018
Receivables
- Shareholders 1,320 -
- Other related parties 2,416,068 2,411,382
Prepayments
- Other related parties 441,994 120,663
Trade and other payables
~ Sharsholders - 49,002
- Other related parties 1,327,078 1,096,793
Lease liabilities
- Other related parties 8.638,737 -
Dividend payables
- - Shareholders 2,376,446 30,608,974
Mature of axpenses
Details of nature of expenses for the year ended 31 Decemnber 20189 are as foliows:
fin thousands of MNT]
Selling and
Changes In Cost administrative
inventories of sales axpenses Total
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Changes in
inventories  (12,731,486) (5,300,694 - - - (12,731,486) (5,300,604
Employee
benefits
axpense - - 15391,899 13,701,674 37,866,844 31527477 53248743 45228,191
Depreciation
and amorti-
sation - - 22818420 25243,378 16,184,493 15879307 39,000,213 41,122,685
Inventory
and others - - 234723230 213,646,400 5HBA410,482 60,433,648 203,133.712 274,080,048
{12,731,486) (5,309,694} 272,931,549 252591452 112,451,819 107,840,432 372,651,882 355,122,190

72



30.

APU Joint Stock Company and Subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 Dacember 2013

Finance income and costs by categories

Finance income and costs by categories for the year ended 31 December 2019 are as follows!

{in thousands of MNT) Carrying amount
2019 2018
Assets carried at amortised cost
Interest income (Note 20} 1,728,328 1,822,207
Foreign exchange (gains) losses, net 420,392 {(149,421)

Lisbilities carried at amortised cost
Interest expense (Nota 21) 2,203,914 3,179,756
Foreign exchange losses (gains), net 791,989 2,061,584

Operating segments
{1} Basis for segmentation

The Group has the following strategic divisions, which are its reportable segments. These divisions offer
different products, and are managed separately because they require different technology and marketing
strategies.

The following summary describes the operations of each reportable segment:

Raportable .
segmenis Operations and key brands in 2019
Vaodka Manufacturing and selling vodka. Key brands are Arkhi, Bolor, Eruul,

Ulaanbaatar, Soyombo, Black Pearl, Altan Turuu, Chinggis Khan, Alpha, Velvet,
Eden, Taiga, Okhi, Viva, Evok, Sarkhad, Suld, Titem, Kharaa and Chinggis.
Beer Brewing and selling beer. Key brands are Niislel, Borgio, Seruun, Altan Gobi,

Khar Khorin, Chinggis Khaan, Kaltenberg, Guinness Draught, Tri medvedya,
Heineken, Sengur, Tiger, Jalam Khar and Legend.

Qthers Manufacturing and selling non-alcoholic beverages. Key brands are Terelj,
Selenge, Frutta, Pure water, Orgiluun, Sain, Maamuu, Desj.
Importing and selling wine. Key brands are Cheteau, Grande, La Chamiza, Mi
Pueblo, Variatels and Vitral.

The Group’s management reviews the internal management reports of each segment at least quarterly.
Other operations in 2019 comprise the production and sales of wine, non-alcoholic beverages and dairy

products. None of these segments met the quantitative thresholds for reportable segments in 2019 and
2018.
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Operating segments, continued

{3) Reconciliation of profit before income tax on reportable segments to IFRS measures.

{in thousands of MNT)
Total profit before income tax for reportable segments
Unallocated amounts:

- Rental income
interest income
- Foreign exchange loss, net
Interest expanse

- Penalties and fees
Profit before income tax

Earnings per share

20198 2018
99,599,769 59,039,940
268,583 248,376
1,728,328 1,822,207
{371,697) {1,912,163)
(2,203,214) {3,179,756}
(473,368} (51,130)
98,547,811 65,967,474

The calculation of basic earnings per share has been based on the following profit attributable to ordinary
shareholders and weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding:

(a} Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders

{in thousands)

Profit for the year

Weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding
Basic earnings per share

(n) Weighted average number of ordinary shares

{in thousands of shares)

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January

Effact of treasury shares held

Weighted average number of crdinary shares

Financial commitments and contingencies

(1} Legal

2019 2018
76,062,489 48,153,208
1,062,975 1,062,975
71.6 453

2019 2018
1,064,182 1,064,182
{1,207 {1,207)
1,062,975 1,062,975

In the ordinary course of business, the Group is subject to legal actions and complaints. Management
believes that the ultimate liability, if any, arising from such actions or complaints will not have a material

adverse effect on the financial condition or the results of future operations of the Group.
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Financial commitments and contingencies, continued
{2) Lease commitments

The Group as lessee has entered into leases of a restaurant, an office and factory facilities. The leases
have no purchass option or escalation clauses included in the agreaments. There are no restrictions placed
upon the Group by entering these leases.

 Minimum lease commitments that the Group would pay under the lease agreements with initial terms of

one year or more at 31 Decernber 2018 were as follows:

fin thousands of MINT) 31 Dec 2018

Within a year 5,682,293

1-6 years 2,204,291
7.886,584

Events after the reporting period
Dividends

On 14 February 2020, the Board of Directors of the Group declared a dividend of MNT 71 per share, which
totals MINT 75,556,890 thousand.

Acquisitions

On 14 February 2020, the Board of Directors of the Group resolved to acquire a 39% interest in Digital
Concept LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of Shunkhlai Group LLC, for cash consideration of MNT
16,468,000 thousand. The transaction is expected to be completed in June 2020.

On 14 February 2020, the Board of Directors of the Group resolved to acquire immovable property together
with its land rights from Borshoon Buyant LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of Shunkhlai Group LLC, for
consideration of MINT 25,000,000 thousand. The purchase is expected 1o be completed in April 2020.

coViD-19

Due 1o the COVID-12 outbreak glebally, various governments across the world including in Monggclia, have
put in place preventative restrictions, which significantly affect economic activity and commerce. As a
result, economies in many countries, including Mongolia, have been experiencing significant slow-downs
and related adverse effects.

As part of the preventive measures, in Mongolia the emergency state commission stopped coal
transportation to China for approximately one month in February and March 2020 and increased the
inspections at the country’s borders. Slower logistics, restrictions on the movement of people and reduced
working hours for businesses, are some of the changes impacting the country’s economy. Consequential
impacts for the Group may include reduced sales due io restrictions on openings of bars, restaurants and
¢lubs, limitations on opening hours of retailers and other beverage outlets and increased defaults by the
Group's customers, among others. At the time of issuing the consolidated financial statements, the full
impact of COVID-19 remains uncertain, and the potential implications of these events for the Group will
only be realized with time.
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